
 

 

Children and Young People Committee 
 

Meeting Venue: 
Committee Room 1 - Senedd 

 

 

 

Meeting date: 
17 January 2013  

 

Meeting time: 
09:00 

 

For further information please contact:  

Policy: Claire Morris 
Committee Clerk 
029 2089 8148 / 029 2089 8025 
CYPCommittee@wales.gov.uk  

  

 

Agenda 
 

 

Pre-meeting (09:00 - 09:15) 

1. Introductions, apologies and substitutions   

2. Inquiry into Attendance and Behaviour - Evidence session (09:15 
- 10:45)  (Pages 1 - 51)  
Professor Ken Reid  

3. Papers to note   

 
Correspondence from the Minster for Health and Social Services regarding 
Neonatal services  (Page 52) 
 

Public Document Pack



 

1 

 

                                  Paper 1: Inquiry into Attendance and Behaviour 

The purpose of this paper is to make some specific comments on the issues referred to on 

attendance and behaviour sent to me in your briefing document.  In this paper, I will address each of 

these issues in turn and in the same order. Subsequently, I will submit some additional papers on my 

reflections on the National Behaviour and Attendance Review (NBAR) and follow up activity in the 

field. 

TEACHER TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT, IN-SERVICE and PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 

Initial teacher training is notoriously poor at providing new teachers with the skills they require for 

managing both behaviour and attendance. In fact, on school attendance, most trainees receive no 

induction in this area apart from any practical tips which they may pick up whilst on teaching 

practice. This is and always has been a weakness in existing ITT provision.  

On behaviour management, some trainees receive more help than others. Many ITT providers do 

not have a behaviour management specialist on their staff. Some use part-time provision whilst 

others rely on occasional inputs. This applies both to primary and secondary trainees. For most 

trainees this amounts to less than ten hours duration throughout the range of their PGCE or BA (ED) 

programmes, despite the trainees’ vast areas of need.  Moreover, some of the so-called 

‘information’ provided to trainees on behaviour management is of dubious quality and usefulness. 

This is one of the longstanding weaknesses of ITT provision as most newly qualified teachers (NQT’s) 

tend to learn ‘on-the-job’ through experience gained whilst in full-time employment. This has long 

been one of the prime arguments used by some protagonists for more school-based training. 

The evidence-gathering exercises undertaken by the NBAR team on visits throughout Wales, which 

involved in gathering the views and experiences of all kinds of teaching and caring professionals 

from every grade and position, found that a lack of training on behaviour management was their 

number one concern. This applied universally from the grass roots (eg teaching assistants) right up 

to head teacher level. This detailed evidence was presented in full in the NBAR Interim Report. 

Consequently, one of the core recommendations of the NBAR Report (2008, page 11) was that: “The 

Welsh Assembly Government should prioritise and increase funding significantly for training 

programmes on behaviour and attendance not only for school-based staff but for all those 

professionals and local authority staff engaged in promoting positive behaviour and improving 

attendance, more especially the education welfare/education social work staff.” 

This was also the main thrust and outcome of the earlier Report carried out and produced jointly by 

the NFER (Wales) and myself into the Role and Effectiveness of the Education Welfare Service in 

Wales,(2007, Swansea, SYCA)for the Welsh Assembly Government (see also:  Reid, K, Powell, R, 

Smith, R, Reakes, A and Jones, G (2008) The initial qualifications, induction and in-service needs of 

education social workers in Wales, Social Work Education, 27,7,777-796 and  Reid, K, Smith, R, 

Powell, R, Reakes, A and Jones, G (2007) An evaluation of the effectiveness of the education welfare 

service in Wales, Research in Education, 77,108-128). 

Despite this, progress on implementing the NBAR recommendation on providing appropriate 

training for all staff engaged in behavioural and school attendance work has been painfully slow and 

disappointing. In fact, almost five years later, most staff in Wales remain in a similar position to the 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



 

2 

 

one outlined in both the NBAR (2008) final and Interim (2007) Reports and in the SYCA (2007) 

evidence. (see: Reid, K (2011a) The professional development needs of staff in Wales on behaviour 

management and attendance, Educational Studies, 37, 1, 15-30; and, Reid, K (2011b) Tackling 

behaviour and attendance issues in schools in Wales: implications for training and professional 

development, educational Studies, 37, 1, 31-48). 

Although the recommendation was warmly welcome by the Welsh Government (WG), plans to 

implement more and better training in behaviour management and school attendance have not 

been fulfilled to date. Why? This has been due to several interlocking factors: 

First, prior to 2008, funding for in-service in Wales was prioritised and carried out differently 

between Wales and England and most UDE’s did not receive any direct funding from the Higher 

Education Funding Council for Wales (HEFCW). Unlike in England, Scotland and Northern Ireland, 

neither behaviour management nor school attendance were perceived to be priority areas. Whereas 

in England for example, all UDE’s were given direct priority funding in these fields and, post 1997, a 

system was introduced by the Blair Administration of introducing a national structure of training for 

both schools and LA staff in behaviour management at a national, regional and local level, no such 

equivalent system came into being in Wales, despite intense lobbying amongst teaching groups. 

Moreover, despite accepting the NBAR recommendation in the formal response by the Welsh 

Government, Behaving and Attending (the Action Plan Responding to the National Behaviour and 

Attendance Review (WG, 2009, see pages: 31-32) and prioritising this recommendation in a special 

paper included in this document (see pages 38-48), progress towards meeting this aim has been 

both painfully slow and chequered (see Document 2). 

Second, after a gap of almost five years, a start has been made as both attendance and behaviour 

management will be included as core elements in the WG’s new interactive master’s degree training 

programme for NQT’s. However, this is a tip of the iceberg situation as, despite internal reviews 

conducted by the DfES into the in-service training needs of teachers, and their behaviour and 

attendance requirements, no properly structured and funded national training programmes on 

behaviour management or school attendance for head teachers, deputies, senior staff, middle 

managers, form tutors and classroom teachers at secondary, primary school, special school or for 

out-of-school providers, amongst others,  have yet been formally introduced. This remains the case 

despite a range of assurances given at various times, including a statement from a former Minister. 

For example, whereas head teachers and aspirant head teachers in England are given this provision 

through their National School Leadership Programmes based in Nottingham, no such provision exists 

in Wales and most head teachers and their staff continue to learn ‘on –the –job.’ 

Third, this means that some staff in schools have received a little more than some elements of ad 

hoc training on behaviour management and school attendance. Some have received a little bit more 

than others.  Some have received virtually none. Generally speaking, most primary staff and 

secondary staff in Wales have received very little training at all on these issues, including many very 

senior and experienced staff; in marked contrast to their peers in other countries. Staff in primary 

schools have tended to fare particularly badly, despite the vast area of needs outlined in the NBAR 

Interim Report (2007) which certainly does not help the case with either earlier intervention or the 

WG’s thrust in attempting to raise standards. 

Page 2



 

3 

 

Last year, at the request of the Director of Education for Torfaen, following a successful intervention 

strategy led by myself, it was possible to improve the LA’s league table position on attendance from 

second bottom to third top within twelve months by rewriting all policy and practice documentation, 

making new appointments within the EWS, and training key staff in all primary and secondary 

schools, school governors, LA staff, social workers, the police and related services. Similar 

interventions have led to equal success in a range of different LA’s in England as outlined in one of 

my latest books, Managing School Attendance (Reid, 2013a), shortly to be published by Routledge. 

PROVISION TO PUPILS EDUCATED OTHERWISE THAN IN SCHOOL (EOTAS) 

The position in Wales on EOTAS is extremely complicated. As a whole, the country suffers from an 

acute shortage of EOTAS provision and such provision which currently exists is both disparate and 

uneven with, as ESTYN has recognised, considerable improvements needed. The management, 

existing funding regimes and the training of staff engaged in EOTAS provision are other core issues. 

Wales suffers considerably from a distinct lack of alternative curriculum and ‘second chance’ schools 

meaning that both managed moves and unofficial exclusions are more prominent issues in Wales 

than elsewhere, although, generally speaking, both the management and outcomes of pupil referral 

units in England is extremely variable (see: Reid, K, 2007, An evaluation of reports on the attendance 

of pupils in out-of-school provision, International Journal of Educational Management, 21, 2, 144-

157). Consequently, in some parts of Wales, certain schools are used frequently to re-locate difficult 

or challenging pupils making their own opportunities for upward mobility in national performance 

league tables even more difficult. 

This position often gives head teachers and their schools and LA’s in Wales fewer options than those 

which are available in other parts of the UK (eg  Sefton and Leeds). Conwy is probably the leading 

authority in this field in Wales. Some other LA’s in Wales have little or no alternative provision for a 

wide variety of reasons, despite clear needs. A review into this provision in Wales has recently been 

undertaken by an Edinburgh-based team. 

USE of EXCLUSION 

The use of exclusion (including permanent/fixed-term and illegal exclusions) was fully covered in the 

NBAR Report (2008, see pages 87-94, amongst others) but perhaps surprisingly, received 

comparatively little coverage in Behaving and Attending (2009) and in subsequent WG publications. 

The issues of both exclusions and unofficial exclusions, as well as the way managed moves are 

currently utilised and implemented by LA’s throughout Wales, commanded much attention and 

focus within the NBAR deliberations. 

After considerable thought, the NBAR team made a series of core recommendations. These were: 

1) “The Welsh Government should ensure that all schools and local authorities rigorously 

adhere to Circular 1/2004 on ‘Exclusion from schools and Pupil Referral Units’ with particular 

regard to tackling unofficial (illegal) exclusions.” 

2) “The Welsh Government should introduce legislation on new exclusion regulations in Wales. 

a) For fixed-term exclusions of under 10 days: 

Schools should be required to immediately provide the fixed-term excluded pupil with a 

learning programme, which maintains curriculum continuity for the individual. 

Page 3



 

4 

 

b) For fixed-term exclusions of more than 10 days: 

In order to maintain curriculum continuity schools should be required to provide 

adequate learning, undertake marking and provide feedback on work completed. 

Schools should have a duty to convene a meeting within 10 days in order to determine 

the young person’s needs, to plan to meet them and to act together in an inter-agency 

approach to attempt to prevent permanent exclusion.” 

3) “For permanent exclusions: 

    Local authorities should be required to make 25 hours of appropriate or equivalent 

learning available (at KS4) to commence within 10 days of the permanent exclusion and to 

convene a meeting of all key professionals and agencies involved in the pupil’s life within the 

ten day period.” 

4) “The Welsh Government should consider: 

a) Giving parents and pupils the opportunity to access an advocacy support service similar 

to that provided to those with SEN in the event of permanent exclusion or where there 

is a threat of permanent exclusion. 

b) Putting into place an additional national point of appeal following the independent 

appeal panel. The national panel will be overseen by the Welsh Government and this 

should include head teacher representatives to test whether this brings greater 

objectivity in a more neutral setting.” 

In addition, the NBAR Report recommended: 

5) “The Welsh Government should introduce guidance on the use of managed moves and 

transfers as an alternative to exclusion. This protocol should include guidance on: 

a) The removal of pupils from school sites; 

b) Pupils’ rights; 

c) Promoting positive behaviour and early intervention; 

d) The role of the head teacher; 

e) Funding arrangements for managed moves; 

f) The wishes of the young person and those of parents.” 

6) “The Welsh Government should actively follow-up schools who are excluding pupils at a rate 

which is significantly higher than average. This situation should be closely monitored by local 

authorities.” 

7) “All local authorities in Wales should designate an officer responsible for inclusion who 

should be appropriately experienced. Some authorities may wish to collaborate with 

neighbouring local authorities on this matter. The inclusion officer would be the central 

point of contact for tracking all exclusion queries and practice. The post should be at a senior 

level in order to drive multi-agency approaches and to be able to liaise with parents, head 

teachers, governors and other involved parties.” 

It was intended by the NBAR team, and in the preliminary discussions with the then Minister for 

Education and Skills, that aspects of the NBAR recommendations and these recommendations on 

exclusion practice, would be considered for inclusion in future Welsh legislation. To the best of my 

knowledge this has not happened to date. 

EDUCATION WELFARE SERVICE 

Page 4



 

5 

 

It is difficult within a short space to deliberate on the complex position of the education welfare 

service/social work service in the UK. A detailed scenario on the differences between the role and 

nature of the education welfare service between Wales and England can be found in one of my 

papers (Reid, K, 2008, The Education Welfare Service: the case for a review in England, Educational 

Studies, 34,3,175-189). 

Since then however, further changes in both countries have taken place partly because of the 

Children Act (2004) agenda and the spending ‘cuts’ which I would be happy to elaborate upon 

further at the Inquiry. All these issues are fully explored in my two forthcoming new books (see: 

Reid, K (2013a)Managing School Attendance: Successful Intervention Strategies in Reducing Truancy 

and Reid, K (2013b) A Practical Guide to Improving School Attendance: Whole-School Strategies that 

Really Work, both to be published by Routledge). 

Broadly speaking, you may wish to be made aware of the following: 

a) Most EWO’s in South Wales remain unqualified. In North Wales, most ESW’s are 

professionally qualified. However, some LA’s in Wales contain both qualified and unqualified 

staff. 

b) Numbers of EWO’s/ESW’s in Wales (or their equivalents) tend to be significantly lower in 

Wales than in England. In some parts of Wales their numbers continue to fall despite 

national problems on school attendance. The EWS service in Wales originally contracted 

sharply following the Thatcher era cuts as the service was politically weak and it was a 

relatively simple ‘cut’ to make. It may or may not be a coincidence that unauthorised 

absence rates have risen sharply by comparison with England since then and, in some LA’s, 

are two, three or four times higher. 

c) Pay grades, responsibilities, and EWS/ESW numbers vary from authority to authority across 

Wales. There are no official national guidelines. 

d) Some authorities in Wales (eg Cardiff), like England, have now started to introduce school 

attendance officers rather than appointing more or new EWS. 

e) Northern Ireland has bucked the overall UK trend post Children Act (2004) agenda, by 

introducing significantly more EWS staff. They have subsequently seen an overall 

improvement in school attendance as well as a corresponding rise in forthcoming league 

tables. Similarly, New York, which has the some of the poorest rates of school attendance in 

the world, is in the process of introducing 250 new equivalent staff and fifty new LA 

coordinators in a multi-million pound initiative to improve its school and district rates of 

attendance. 

BEHAVIOUR SUPPORT SERVICES 

Despite the NBAR recommendations, the quality of LA behavioural support and school improvement 

services varies markedly as recent ESTYN LA reports exemplify. Some LA’s have too little or too 

broadly-stretched provision; including sometimes having inadequately trained staff for their complex 

roles. Although some recent improvements have been made in this area in some LA’s in Wales, 

much more hard work needs to be undertaken before they are all equally effective.  

Page 5



 

6 

 

Similarly, there is much variation in practice and in perceived success rates across Wales. Re-

integration strategies remain weak in most LA’s in Wales. The recently-established regional consortia 

may help in this regard.  

However, in some LA’s, basic school-LA liaison and communication practices need to be improved as 

most head teachers would agree. Also, some LA behavioural-led interventions are much too short 

and take much too long to implement and these often occur without having any real expectation or 

any realistic chance of longer-term success. Many LA’s resources are stretched to capacity or beyond 

in this field already with some LA’s having too few options at their disposal. 

This was one of the reasons why I wrote Tackling Behaviour in your Primary School with Nicola 

Morgan  (Reid and Morgan, 2012, published by Routledge) which is one of the first behavioural 

handbooks to incorporate the post Children Act (2004)agenda as well as a wide range of practical 

solutions. Although the book received widespread critical acclaim, and was largely based on practice 

and evidence based in Wales, it is currently selling much better in both England and Scotland than in 

Wales which may be indicative of a wider issue. 

PARENTAL ENGAGEMENT 

There is little doubt that involving parents better with schools, especially at the primary school level, 

is key to improving school attendance and pupils’ behaviour (Desforges, 2003, The Impact of 

Parental Involvement, Parental Support and Family Education On Pupil Achievement and 

Adjustment, DfES Research Report,433))( see also: NBAR, 2008). 

The research conducted by Dalziel and Henthorne (2005, Parents’/carers’ attitudes towards school 

attendance, DfES Research Report) showed just how different and difficult the behaviour and 

attitudes of the parents of school and persistent school absentees were as a group when compared 

with the parents of regularly-attending pupils. 

 One successful  and pioneering venture, originally developed in South Wales, the Family Values 

Scheme (FVS), is now being utilised by schools in different parts of the UK (eg Herefordshire) and is 

the subject of a new book  being published in February (Ellis, G, Morgan, M and Reid, K (2013) Better 

Behaviour through Home-School Relations, Routledge). The Family Values Scheme for example, has 

been used to improve pupils’ literacy, numeracy and behaviour and attendance at Coed Eva School 

in Cwmbran; a recently-merged new school located in a seriously deprived catchment area with a 

previously very poor rate of attendance and high number of exclusions. By implementing the FVS, 

the head teacher and staff have been able to turn around events significantly. Explicitly, immediately 

prior to the introduction of the FVS, Coed Eva had 37 exclusions in its previous academic year. Last 

year, after the FVS was fully operational, it had no fixed or permanent exclusions apart from one 

fixed-term exclusion which lasted for a total of one and a half days following a serious incident. 

Therefore, the School and its staff are much better prepared to cope with all of its potential 

difficulties. 

 Despite giving an interactive presentation on the potential of the Scheme to senior staff within the 

DfES and, as requested, leaving CD’s featuring the work of schools, parents and pupils, nothing 

further has  ever been heard from them and so our pioneering  work is continuing in other parts of 

the UK (eg Herefordshire). The Scheme has particular utility for parents, pupils and schools situated 

Page 6



 

7 

 

in deprived areas; not least such areas as the South Wales Valleys. The FVS could and should have 

played a major role in the Families First Initiative. 

SCHOOL EFFECTIVENESS FRAMEWORK 

The NBAR Report (2008) should be a major platform within the school effectiveness framework in 

Wales. I fully support the Minister’s drive to raise standards in schools and LA’s in Wales by including 

for example, a school’s attendance statistics as part of their banding and performance profile. Given 

the above average number of pupils with special and additional learning needs, literacy and 

numeracy and attendance problems, it is hard to see how Wales will be able by 2015 to achieve the 

Minister’s target of reaching the world top twenty in the Pisa tests, without substantial 

improvements in pupils’ attainment, including literacy, numeracy and attendance, being made. 

Therefore, I also fully support ESTYN’s drive to help to raise standards through their inspection remit 

as well as the important work being undertaken through the Schools Standards Unit within the DfES. 

EARLY INTERVENTION 

The two main recommendations of the NBAR Report were that: 

1) “The welsh Government should, through implementing the revised curriculum and 

assessment arrangements from September 2008 in schools in Wales, provide a clear lead 

that no child (within the mainstream ability range)should leave primary school without the 

functional ability to read and write.” 

Although a great deal more thought and hard work needs to go into this area, I am fully satisfied 

that the Minister, DfES, LA’s, schools and teachers, are doing a lot of hard and good work in this 

field; not least through the National Literacy and Numeracy Strategies and such initiatives as 

one-to-one learning help, better mentoring and use of classroom assistants. 

2) “The Welsh Government should prioritise early intervention strategies on work with 

attendance-related and behavioural-related problems amongst children and young people.” 

Both these core ideas were adopted as prime recommendations in the recent review in England 

(Taylor Report, 2012, DES, London) as well as in the review conducted for Parliament (Allen and 

Smith, 2008, Good Parents, Great Kids, Better Citizens, The Centre for Social Justice, London).  

However, whereas point one above has benefitted from much concerted endeavour in Wales, 

much more needs to be done with regard to this latter issue. Far too many LA intervention 

strategies remain much too secondary-orientated (eg in their deployment of EWS/ESW staff and 

school attendance officers).Consequently, far too many pupils in Wales are not having their 

initial learning needs and support requirements analysed and met. Therefore, too many are 

under achieving and/or failing and eventually, leaving school without external qualifications, 

becoming NEET, and graduating from having comparatively minor attendance (and/or 

behavioural) issues to developing as persistent absentees or truants.  

Too many intervention strategies in Wales (when these do actually occur) take place far too late. 

Research evidence shows that early intervention with a primary-aged pupil is at least six times 

more likely to bring about the required changes in learning, school attendance and behaviour 

Page 7



 

8 

 

than later interventions when the pupil has reached the adolescent, and, often, the persistent 

phase. 

Again, I would be happy to elaborate further on this point at the Inquiry if you so wish. 

GOVERNANCE OF SCHOOLS 

It is regrettable that the training of governors on school attendance and behavioural issues is not yet 

mandatory in Wales. 

 

THE LAW ON SCHOOL ATTENDANCE 

There can be little doubt that the law on school attendance has never worked very effectively for a 

whole variety of reasons (See: Zhang, M 2004, Time to Change the truancy laws? Pastoral Care in 

Education, 22, 2, 27-33; Reid, K (1999) Truancy and Schools, Reid, K (2002) Truancy: Short and Long-

Term Solutions; Reid, K ((2010) Finding strategic solutions to reduce truancy, Research in Education, 

84, 1-18; Reid, K (2012c) An analysis of the future management of school attendance in Wales, 

Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties, 17,1,3-12; Reid, K (2012d) The strategic management of 

truancy and school absenteeism: Finding solutions from a national perspective, Educational Review, 

64, 2, 196-211; Reid, K (2012e) Reflections of being ‘A man of truancy’: Forty years on, Educational 

Studies, 38, 2, 309-326). 

Now that the Welsh Government has its own law making powers, it is suggested that a further 

review in this area should be undertaken by the Welsh Government in conjunction with a further 

update on the NBAR Report. Again, this is an area which I would be happy to elaborate upon further 

at the Inquiry (see papers 2 and 3) and would be delighted to lead, if invited. 

Professor Ken Reid, OBE, January, 2013. 

3895 words. 

 

 

 

 

Page 8



                  PAPER 2: THE NBAR REVIEW: SOME REFLECTIONS 

The purpose of this paper is to briefly outline some important milestones in the management of 

behaviour and attendance since devolution in 1999. 

THE PRE-NBAR PERIOD 

Prior to devolution when responsibility for both behaviour and attendance resided in London, the 

management of both behaviour and school attendance in Wales were largely neglected and ignored 

fields in both research exercises and official reports undertaken in England. 

Following concerns about the high rates of school absenteeism and unauthorised absence in Wales, 

and specific concerns made by both ESTYN and the then Chief Inspector for Schools in Wales, The 

Education Minister (JD) decided to hold a review of school attendance arrangements in Wales. This 

was an exercise led at the time by an official from within DCELLS (see: Welsh Assembly (2003a) The 

Attendance Task and Finish Group, Final Report, Cardiff, National Assembly for Wales; and, Welsh 

Assembly (2003b) The Attendance Task and Finish Group, Provisional Action Plan, Cardiff, National 

Assembly for Wales).  

Despite some initial enthusiasm, the overall outcome was disappointing and most of the 

recommendations were never properly implemented (see: Reid, K (2004) Combating truancy and 

school absenteeism in Wales: The latest developments, Welsh Journal of Education, 12, 2, 13-34). 

Not long afterwards, the Minister created a series of Ministerial Advisory Groups (MAG’s). I 

represented behaviour and attendance on the Special/Additional Learning Needs Group and Chaired 

the Behaviour and Attendance Sub-Group. This undertook a lot of excellent work on a range of 

issues and was, in my opinion, the best and most useful Group on which I was ever involved in as 

part of DCELLS operations. It contained a considerable number of capable and high ranking 

practitioners. These came from senior positions within Health, Social services, Education, the 

voluntary sector, LA’s and ESTYN and was an excellent multidisciplinary and interdisciplinary 

sounding board/advisory team which did much significant work. In this capacity, I liaised with the 

Minister on certain issues on a few occasions. 

 Unfortunately, it was decided to disband the MAG Groups around 2007. However, for a short 

period, the work of the ADLN Group continued on its own due to its perceived importance. Then, 

whilst in the middle of an important exercise and in mid-meeting, we were all told that our MAG 

Group would cease and our Group and input sadly, disappeared. 

THE NBAR REVIEW PROCESS 

However, during the life of the MAG, and the following interregnum, and after further concerns 

about both behaviour and especially, school attendance, were raised by ESTYN and through some 

unfavourable media publicity, it was decided to establish the National Behaviour and Attendance 

Review (NBAR) which I was asked to Chair; initially by JD and subsequently, continued with JH. The 

work took place over a 20-month period between 2006 and 2008 and, despite considerable 

pressure, both the Interim Report (2007) and Final Reports were completed on time. 

Page 9



This was not an easy task. The methodology utilised was both thorough and time consuming 

employing the use of both qualitative and quantitative approaches, including gathering some 

original data and a world first in incorporating children’s views into the evidence obtained.  

It was therefore, decided to sub-divide the NBAR work into two distinct phases. In phase one, which 

lasted for the first six months, the views and specific needs of all types of staff engaged in behaviour 

and attendance work were sought and obtained throughout and across Wales. The data obtained 

from these exercises were analysed and presented in the detailed Interim Report. 

At this juncture, an important development occurred. The Minister (JH) sent for me (along with AL) 

and advised me that my key administrator (Anna Thomas, who was excellent) was leaving DCELLS to 

take up a new role within local government. Due to staff shortages within DCELLS, she asked me to 

give full priority to the role and to self-manage the whole process and to give generously of my time. 

She wrote to the Chairman of my Board of Governors for his consent which he gladly gave. The 

Minister’s wishes were achieved as I attended and chaired every meeting at every event, 

irrespective of task. Therefore, much of the major administrative tasks fell upon my PA at the time 

Angela Harris, who unselfishly gave up a lot of her free time, including working in the evenings and 

weekends without any additional payment. Therefore, I applied myself as diligently as possible to my 

combined roles as Chair of NBAR and Deputy Vice Chancellor of Swansea Metropolitan University. 

Stage Two of the NBAR work was sub-divided into a number of specific areas. These were on: 

a) Attendance; 

b) Behaviour; 

c) Exclusion; 

d) Participation; and,  

e) Training. 

A number of empirical tasks were also undertaken and analysed in such fields as: 

1) The voice of children and young people (see papers published in Education Review and 

Educational Studies in attached cv); 

2) Parents; 

3) A range of core issues; 

4) Recent research within the UK in the field. 

The recommendations emanating from all this work formed the basis for the nineteen core 

recommendations and seventy three supporting ones. 

POST NBAR DEVELOPMENTS. 

Approximately, twelve months after the NBAR (2008) Report was published, DCELLS and the 

Minister (JH) published their response to the findings which had the full cross-party support of the 

Welsh Assembly Government. This Report was entitled: Behaving and Attending: Action Plan 

Responding to the National Behaviour and Attendance Review Welsh Government, 2009: 

(Information Document 076/2009).  

Page 10



It was an excellent document overseen by an Implementation Group, of which I was part and to 

which I gave my full support (see Paper 1). Work started thereafter on progressing the issues 

satisfactorily. Unexpectedly, however, in December 2009, the person with designated responsibility 

for implementing these recommendations, left to take up a new role with the WJEC. 

Subsequently, events changed. A new group was formed and called to its one and only meeting a 

year or so later. To my surprise, following some internal reorganisation within DCELLS, some new 

staff were appointed to the Section and these were introduced to the meeting, along with a new 

Head of Department. Naturally, I assumed we would continue the process from where we had left 

off with Behaving and Attending; not least because much of the focus of the previous meeting had 

been on the special document on meeting staff training needs which was presented in Annex B 

(pages 38 to 48) which had rightly been emphasised by the Minister (JH) in both my pre-meeting 

with her and in the associated press release and interviews afterwards, including interviews given on 

national television. So, professional expectations were raised. 

However, despite my questioning at the meeting, I was advised that the NBAR agenda “had changed 

and moved on” and I received no reply to my question about the status of the training document. It 

was as if it had never happened (see Paper 1). 

It soon became clear that DCELLS had re-prioritised the various elements within the NBAR Report 

and taken a number of new decisions, including issuing contracts for some pilot projects. This came 

as news to me. Incidentally, this second group was never to meet again and I never again attended 

any further Implementation Group meetings. Therefore, much of the original good work outlined in 

Behaving and Attending remained dormant; a position which has only partially changed since. 

After that my role changed and was largely ignored. However, in April and May, 2010, following 

some helpful discussions between myself and CT, two new meetings were held with the then new 

Minister (LA) following serious criticisms in the press and media about the slow implementation of 

the NBAR Report’s recommendations from a number of notable sources including the Children’s 

Commissioner’s Office. During the meeting, the Minister asked me to write a quick update for him 

focussing upon attendance. This was achieved and he received the Report at the end of May, 2010. 

This was entitled: Update on National Behaviour and Attendance Report (NBAR): Improving School 

Attendance in Wales and is presented as Paper 3 in my series to you. 

The paper focussed upon school attendance in Wales from a variety of perspectives. These included: 

a) The causes of non-attendance and truancy; 

b) Towards new solutions; 

c) Early intervention; 

d) Literacy and numeracy; 

e) The role of the education welfare service; 

f) Inside Secondary schools and LA’s, including school and LA variations; 

g) The law; 

h) The role of the DfES in Wales; and,  

i) Some alternative and more radical approaches. 

Page 11



When the Minister (LA) saw me to discuss the paper, he seemed very pleased with it. He had 

certainly done his homework and I was impressed with his knowledge. In fact, at this point, perhaps I 

should add in parenthesis, that the interest and support from all three Ministers has been excellent 

and appreciated. In fact, the Minister (LA) instructed the DfES to re-engage me with the NBAR work. 

Shortly afterwards, a meeting took place within the DfES under the Chairmanship of a Deputy 

Director and the person i/c behaviour and attendance. It was an amicable meeting attended by 

some of his colleagues. It was agreed at the time and at their suggestion, that I would be called into 

the Department on a periodical basis for advisory discussions and updating. This was approx two and 

a half years ago. Subsequently, this has never happened; not even once. I do not know why. 

Since then, in a key speech at Cardiff University, the Minister praised me for my efforts on NBAR and 

publically stated there was to be a renewed initiative and re-examination of NBAR as one of his 

twenty key points, as part of the process to raise standards and performance in schools and LA’s in 

Wales. He indicated that I would be re-involved. However, with only one exception, I have not been 

asked to attend any new or follow up meetings and am now largely out-of-the-loop. 

The exception was a meeting and request from Ruth Conway who had recently taken over as the 

person i/c Behaviour and Attendance within the DfES (who I was impressed by and who is now 

reporting directly to MW). She asked me to undertake some short-term work with Cardiff LA which 

was completed during the Spring, 2012. I did receive a request to act as part of an Action Group 

going into Blaenau Gwent to help with their retrieval work, to which I willingly agreed, but, 

subsequently, never heard any more. Apart from my assessment work of materials for the new 

interactive Master’s degree in the fields of behaviour and attendance and special and additional 

learning needs, it is perhaps ironical, therefore, that my most recent involvements have been in 

Ireland, England and Scotland on a range of interventions (some written up in my two new 

forthcoming books),and  with the Obama Government as part of two new meta-analyses, as well as 

continuing with my writing of books, research articles and Editorial work (see attached CV). I have, 

for example, become the Editor of the new weekly on-line publication entitled the Welsh Education 

Journal. 

CONCLUSION 

Looking back on my experiences of NBAR, I would respectfully like to make the following considered 

points to the Committee. 

First, it was a great opportunity and experience with an interesting and diverse Review Team. 

Second, I believe the main benefit of the NBAR Report was to bring Wales up-to -speed in the two 

fields. Wales had been rather sluggish in its management of this area over the first ten years of 

devolution, partly due to staff shortages, conflicting pressures and for other reasons. My assertion is 

manifest by the fact that subsequent reports (eg the Taylor Review Report in England) have 

reiterated many of the same key points as those found in NBAR, such as the requirement for much 

better and earlier intervention. 

Third, the speed of implementation, after a promising start, has been a major disappointment to me; 

not least with some of the core recommendations on for example, the need for new national 

training programmes on behaviour and attendance at a variety of levels. 

Page 12



Fourth, the initial advantage which the Welsh Government benefitted from through the NBAR 

process has once again been lost. Having been presented with a national and international lead in 

the field (see all the NBAR articles published in leading journals),  NBAR should have been central to 

the school effectiveness and standards-raising exercises in recent times, to literacy, numeracy and 

early intervention initiatives and training and professional development exercises as well as in 

interdisciplinary, multidisciplinary and children’s rights endeavours. 

Therefore, fifth and finally, I would suggest that a second NBAR Review is now required and 

necessary both to update and to develop new strategies which might involve the need for some new 

all-Wales legislation. This should focus more on attendance than behaviour. Previously, for a whole 

variety of reasons, this was the other way round with the original report. There are a wide range of 

areas needing to be addressed; not least some possible legal changes. I should be more than happy 

to lead this work if that was the Minister’s and Committee’s wish. 

Professor Ken Reid, OBE, January, 2013. 

2188 words. 

  

 

 

Page 13



PAPER 3 for CHILDREN’S COMMITTEE 

UPDATE ON NATIONAL BEHAVIOUR AND ATTENDANCE REPORT (NBAR): IMPROVING SCHOOL 

ATTENDANCE IN WALES 

Prepared by Professor Ken Reid, Former Chair of NBAR 

 

BACKGROUND 

In early 2011, the Minister presented his new twenty-point point plan to raise performance & 

standards in Welsh Education in the light of the disappointing PISA results & the Chief Inspector’s 

(CI’s) end-of-cycle Report. During this presentation, the Minister indicated that there was to be a 

new evaluation of the NBAR Report. He announced that all teachers in Wales would shortly be 

encouraged to follow new modules in behaviour management; one of the original core NBAR 

recommendations .He also regretted the slow implementation of the Report & some of its other key 

recommendations. 

Subsequently, a meeting took place between the Minister, Chris Tweedale (CT) & myself as the 

former Chair of the original NBAR Report to consider & reflect upon the issues. It was agreed that a 

second NBAR Update Report would be written shortly after the Welsh Assembly Elections to focus 

specifically upon how school attendance in Wales could be raised & truancy reduced. This new 

Update would be submitted to the Minister directly & copied to CT for their consideration. 

INTRODUCTION 

There is widespread & consistent evidence that rates of pupils’ non-attendance & truancy have been 

higher in Wales, especially in the large urban cities & valleys of SE Wales, since records began. At no 

stage have national & overall rates of unauthorised absence & truancy ever been better than those 

for England, despite there being serious problems in several parts of both England & Scotland. More 

worryingly, over the last 25/30 years, rates of non-attendance have been rising slowly in primary 

schools at key stage 2, whilst a slight majority of girls miss school at the secondary phase despite 

truancy being a largely male phenomenon until the 1970’s.  

Explicitly, there has been a steady increase in overall absence amongst primary school children 

across Wales in both authorised & unauthorised absence. Overall primary absences in Wales (7.9%) 

are much higher than in England (5.34%). Merthyr LA is shown as having the worst absence rates at 

key stage 2, although there are a large number of primary schools whose overall rates of attendance 

fall below 90% with subsequent knock-on effects into the secondary phase. Remarkably, in the 

recent set of statistics, 2130 Welsh primary pupils missed 30% of all possible sessions with 389 pupils 

missing more than 50%. This is worrying news for the performance of Welsh pupils in standardised 

tests for the future & is a trend which needs curtailing urgently if the performance of Wales is to rise 

in international league tables on Education. These statistics tell only half the tale as they are linked 

undoubtedly to literacy & numeracy, pupils’ home backgrounds & to the attitude of some parents & 

carers towards Education & schooling. 

Page 14



 The rise in non-attendance at the primary phase means that some secondary schools are admitting 

pupils who have been regularly making between 70-90% of possible attendances whilst at key stage 

2. Amongst other reasons, this has contributed to a growth in non-attendance at key stage 3. 

Traditionally, pupils’ non-attendance has always been at its worst at key stage 4 and, in particular, in 

year 11. Unfortunately, the levels of non-attendance at key stages  2  & 3 & for year 10 pupils 

considerably exceed non-attendance levels for the 1970’s, despite all the recent  government action, 

legislative changes to court & punishment processes, the improved monitoring procedures within 

schools & all the good practice applied by teachers, schools & local authorities (LA’s) in Wales. 

The rationale for this Update is that it is possible to improve rates of school attendance further 

throughout Wales in a number of different ways, depending upon how innovative & far reaching the 

Welsh Government (WG) is prepared to be & after taking cognisance that new legislation might be 

required  to implement all the ideas. It is my contention that if all the ideas proposed in this paper 

were followed it would soon be possible for Wales to outperform the rest of the United Kingdom 

(UK) on overall rates of school attendance & to reduce truancy significantly. However, a great deal of 

consistent hard work would need to be applied by educational professionals & the DES in Wales for 

a considerable period of time. 

For the purposes of this Update, an outline of my ideas for the best way forward is now presented. 

These are supplemented in Appendix 1 by one of my forthcoming papers which supplies further 

evidence & a reference base, although some of the other 70-odd papers which I have published in 

this field since 2002 alone also have merit & contain other potential solutions. For example, my 

paper in Educational Review, 60,4,345-359 on the causes of non-attendance: an empirical study 

contains many ideas  & much evidence from a variety of perspectives & is apparently, one of the 

most downloaded papers of the last five years according to a recent letter I received from  the 

Journal’s Editor. 

THE CAUSES OF NON-ATTENDANCE & TRUANCY 

The causes of pupils’ non-attendance & truancy are well known & are easily accessible as for 

example, the author has written a number of texts & academic articles in this field, amongst others. 

Traditionally, the original view up until the 1970’s, was that pupils’ non-attendance was related to 

home background. Between the late seventies & now researchers have shown that: 

a) Rates of truancy & non-attendance varied considerably even between schools located in 

similar homogeneous areas, such as the South Wales valleys. 

b) Most absentee pupils manifest a combination of social (including home background factors) 

psychological & institutional reasons for missing school. Interviews with persistent school 

absentees repeatedly confirm that around 85% have one or more school-based reasons for 

missing school; more school-based reasons are given the older the pupil is at the time of the 

interview. School –based reasons are often too long to list & vary considerably by school. 

Explicitly, bullying may be the main reason given by pupils from one school but not occur or 

be mentioned by a single pupil from a different school. The same can be true of purported 

cyber bullying. Equally, pupils’ curricular dislikes often vary by school/teacher. However, 

amongst the most regularly disliked subjects are PE/Swimming amongst teenage girls, Welsh 

(in certain schools/areas) & certain academic subjects amongst less able pupils. Most pupils 

however, value highly the study of basic subjects such as English. 

Page 15



c) There is often a single initial cause for younger-aged pupils missing school. When this single 

issue is not resolved, pupils’ non-attendance is likely to grow until it reaches the persistent 

stage. Some pupils graduate more quickly towards the persistent stage than others for 

reasons of which we cannot be certain. This is true for both boys & girls. 

d) Most persistent absentees blame their teachers & schools rather than their parents or carers 

for their failure to attend schools. Psychological studies (eg using repertory grids) show that 

whilst pupils make allowances for their parents’ shortcomings , they do not give similar lee-

way to their teachers. Supply & temporary staff are frequently not liked or respected. 

e) Parents of persistent school absentees have been found to hold a more negative view of 

education, schooling & teachers than any other single parental group. Likewise, parents & 

carers of persistent absentees & truants are likely to have been school absentees or truants 

themselves. Some familial groups in South Wales now contain third & fourth generational 

truant members. Parents or carers of regular absentees are less likely to attend school 

events such as parents’ evenings than other parental groups. 

f) Psychologically, persistent school absentees have lower levels of self-esteem & academic 

self-concepts than their peers, even when compared with those in the same forms in school 

& from similar social & home backgrounds. Both boy & girl persistent school absentees have 

been found to have equally low levels of self-esteem at the highest levels of statistically 

significance than both their academic & form group peers. Studies from different parts of 

the world have confirmed these data. 

g) Many persistent absentees or truants begin their histories of criminal activity whilst 

truanting. Approximately, 80% of young offenders were truants. Cases of shoplifting for 

example, decreases on days when truancy patrols monitor shopping centres. Boys continue 

to conduct more serious criminal offences whilst out-of-school than girls at a rate of 

between 6 or 8 to one & to get prosecuted more often dependent upon study or region of 

the UK. However, the rise of girl gangs & gang-related activity has grown in recent years. 

Bullying (in all its forms) is more frequently given as a reason for non-attendance than 

twenty or thirty years ago. There has been a significant recent rise in cyber bullying which is 

believed to have a relationship to increased non-attendance in some schools in parts of the 

UK. 

h) Psychological studies & case work research suggest that up to 80% of all non-attendance 

cases may not be about attendance per se but often are symptomatic of a pupils’ plea for 

help on other issues when all other avenues have failed. Therefore, resolving pupils’ 

attendance may require other issues to be resolved first (eg persistent arguments within the 

family between the parents or familial bullying). 

i) The Cazbah Study(2008) for the NBAR Report found  that both primary & secondary-aged 

pupils were well aware of the requirements to attend school regularly, to behave well when 

in school & the consequences of non-attendance whilst at school & in later life. This included 

pupils from a cross-section of schools in different regions throughout Wales, including some 

attending a pupil referral unit. 

j) Research has consistently shown a very high correlation between school-age truancy & adult 

criminality, prison sentences, unemployment, frequent job changes, divorce, reliance upon 

the state (income support, housing benefit) & mental health problems, amongst a range of 

other factors. The same results are replicated from studies conducted in the US & from 

other parts of the world. On some measures, truancy is the best single predictive measure 

Page 16



&, in economic terms, its longer-term consequences cost the State millions of pounds 

annually. 

k) Research from England has found that some schools’ attendance rates are made worse by 

the repeated non-attendance of a small group of persistent absentees. 

l) Rates of attendance vary considerably within pupil referral units (PRU’s); even those located 

within the same area/LA. NB There are currently no officially-prescribed national rates of 

attendance for PRU’s & attendance rates between PRU’s vary considerably. In one of the 

papers I published a few years ago on the performance of PRU’s in England, daily attendance 

rates were found to vary from between 20 to over 80%. Heads of PRU’s often refer to 80% 

as being the ‘gold standard.’ 

m) Cases of early intervention with young absentees stand more than six times the chance of 

being successful than late interventions; the earlier the intervention the better. 

Interventions with pupils in years 10 & 11 are rarely successful once they have reached the 

persistent stage. 

n) Back in the 1950’s/1960’s, most truancy was conducted by “lonely, isolated pupils with 

deficient home backgrounds.” (Tyerman, 1968). Today, much truancy is group orientated & 

is pre-planned. 

o) There has never been a study of post-registration or specific lesson absence in Wales. One 

study found that that this accounted for a majority of school absences in London. These 

absences however, are excluded from official statistics. Similarly, spot checks on school 

attendance conducted at different times of the school day or on different days of the week 

have found school attendance to be much lower in some schools than shown in the official 

registers. One school in South Wales was found to have less than half its pupils present in a 

mid-afternoon session, although, at the time, it was decided not to publish this finding. 

p) Studies conducted using truancy patrols conducted in for example, shopping centres 

regularly report parental-condoned absenteeism to be the highest determining factor, 

especially amongst younger-age children & girls. 

q) Rates of non-attendance have remained persistently & consistently high amongst certain 

secondary schools throughout Wales, more especially in such places as the larger City-LA’s 

(Cardiff, Swansea, Newport), the South Wales Valleys & the North East Wales coastal area 

(eg  Rhyl). 

r) In England, approximately 80% of schools placed in special measures had an attendance-

based reason/s for OFSTED making their decision; higher in some parts of the country. In 

Wales, proportionally fewer schools have been placed in special measures whether for their 

attendance record or for other reasons. 

s) There have been very few specific studies on pupils’ non-attendance within the primary 

school, especially at key stage 2. Similarly, ethnicity has not been a variable in studies on 

school attendance although it has been used as a core variable in recent projects examining 

exclusions in England. 

t) There is a growing band of evidence (mainly conducted through case studies) that pupils 

given ‘second chances’ after leaving school, including pupils who were absentees or truants, 

can perform much better between the ages of 16-18 after receiving a fresh start or in 

adulthood. 

u) Despite methodological & definitional changes over the categorisation of authorised or 

unauthorised absences when marking school registers, overall national levels of attendance 

Page 17



have been little changed in the last 20 years in either Wales or England. Variations between 

& within individual & local schools in rates of both authorised & unauthorised absences do 

however, frequently occur. 

v) There is a growth in the number of schools who record pupils taking holidays during term- 

time without the consent of their head teacher. However, some studies show a variation in 

how this category is marked in the register. Equally, some schools & LA’s in England make 

more use of the ‘study leave’ category than others. 

w) The overwhelming evidence is that the existing law relating to school attendance as set out 

in the 1944 & 1996 Education Acts, amongst others, only works partially as the penalties, 

although increased significantly since 1997, are widely considered to be ineffective. Jailing 

parents has been useful for publicity purposes & for enforcement reasons but little else. 

Often parents do not pay imposed fines & these are eventually written off. Only a very small 

proportion of persistent absentee cases referred to the LA’s & Education Welfare Service  

(EWS) ever find their way to court &, in some ways, court prosecutions have become more 

difficult since the Children Act 2004 came into force. Efforts to improve the interface 

between Health, Social Services & Education remain in their infancy in Wales, despite the 

best efforts of the WG & the DES (formerly DCELLS) as progress on best practice has 

remained slow. 

x) Studies of professionals, including education welfare officers, learning school mentors 

(LSM’), classroom assistants, teachers, middle managers, senior staff & head teachers in 

England & Wales consistently blame aspects/issues relating to the national curriculum as a 

prime cause for pupils’ non-attendance. A majority of professional staff consider there is too 

little vocational education on offer for lower ability pupils. 

y) Approximately 25-33% of persistent absentees or truants can be disruptive when in school. 

A high proportion of teachers are happier when they are not in school. These professional 

attitudes amongst a minority of teachers may have an impact upon why some schools 

perform less well than their peers on attendance league tables. It used to be common 

practice in some parts of the UK for schools to condone absence amongst their most 

disruptive pupils during the period when school inspections took place. This was made illegal 

some years ago, although a head teacher lost her job in NE England for continuing this 

practice, whilst others have been suspended. 

z) Studies indicate that few school governors currently have a grasp of attendance issues. Few 

school annual reports currently provide much information on school attendance matters. 

However, most schools & LA’s have reasonable policy documents. Some however, can be 

neglected or are out-of-date. Some schools/LA’s update them only immediately prior to an 

ESTYN inspection. 

aa) The EWS in Wales remain unhappy about the lack of national training programmes available 

for them despite the research evidence gathered in2005/2006 & the NBAR Report 

recommendations, although, it is understood, DES is currently acting upon this issue. 

Similarly, unlike England, few training opportunities on attendance currently exist in Wales. 

 

 

TOWARDS NEW SOLUTIONS 

 

Page 18



This next section will outline some possible new solutions by topic, along with the rationale 

for each.  

 

1) EARLY INTERVENTION 

 

All the available evidence from a range of studies & a key recommendation within the NBAR 

Report is that there is a need in cases of school attendance to implement much earlier 

intervention strategies. Similar ideas are now being adopted in England post NBAR. 

Unfortunately, in Wales, some LA’s have made little change or impact here. Why? First, 

because EWO’s are spread too thinly on the ground in some LA’s with possible further cut-

backs imminent. Traditionally, EWO’s are politically weak & are considered ‘easy meat’ when 

‘cuts’ come around as happened in Wales during the Thatcher era in the 1980’s. This is one 

reason why the EWS is regarded universally as ‘the Cinderella Service.’ Some LA’s currently 

offer no or almost no support to primary schools except in exceptional & the most serious 

circumstances. Second, because of political in-fighting & scarcity of resources within LA’s, 

the more powerful head teachers often soak up the available resources for themselves. 

Most potential legal cases & prosecutions affect parents or carers of secondary-age pupils, 

especially in years 10 & 11 (when it is much too late).Third, although more LA’s in Wales do 

give some primary schools some EWS support, this is often tokenism or spread too thinly on 

the ground. The reality remains that in most primary schools it is the head teacher who 

manages attendance issues; normally without any training for the role. Therefore, 

attendance & related issues continue to be addressed much too late. Unwittingly, 

educationalists are often making parents’ roles more difficult as well & some parents feel let 

down by the Service, especially when they are initially unaware of their children’s non-

attendance. The poor outcomes of non-attendance cases taken to court often fuels 

annoyance between head teachers & other teaching staff given the amount of paper work 

involved although, of course the court decision bears no relationship to the EWS service. 

Indeed, many EWS staff are equally frustrated by the court outcomes themselves. 

 

2) LITERACY & NUMERACY 

 The relationship between literacy & pupils’ non-attendance & subsequent lack of 

educational attainment & academic progress cannot be over-estimated. There is 

overwhelming research evidence to back the point since the National Children’s Bureau 

longitudinal study commenced in the 1960’s.These details were outlined in the NBAR 

Report, pages 19-21.  

Since then, a new & very important longitudinal study conducted in the United States by 

Greenwood, Kratchowill and Clements (2008), which monitored pupils’ progress between 

grades 3 to 9, reported identical conclusions. The clear fact is that once pupils fall behind in 

their literacy & numeracy scores, they will continue to fall further & further behind as they 

progress up the years at school. It is pupils from within this under-performing group who 

become absentees & truants & often develop behavioural problems & other disorders as 

well. 

Page 19



It was for this reason that the NBAR Report’s (2008, pages 9 & 137) first recommendation 

was that: 

“The Welsh Assembly Government should, through implementing the revised curriculum & 

assessment arrangements from September 2008 in schools in Wales, provide a clear lead 

that no child (within the mainstream ability range) should leave primary school without the 

functional ability to read & write.” 

This message was strongly reinforced in both the Minister’s Cardiff address when he 

proposed a new primary-phase literacy test & in the CI’s end-of-phase annual Report 

(ESTYN, 2011). Despite this, and the new all-Wales literacy strategy, it seems there remains 

some way to go before the NBAR recommendation is fully understood & implemented. 

Therefore, I make no apologies for underlying the message once more. Presently, between 

approx. 30-35% of pupils at 15 years of age are incapable of undertaking the PISA ‘test’ 

satisfactorily solely because of their low literacy & numeracy abilities. Even worse, these 

pupils are unlikely to achieve the Minister’s minimum target of five or more GCSE’s. 

Therefore, if the Welsh Nation as a whole wishes to see its international standing in league 

tables on Educational achievement improve, it has to obtain higher achievement scores from  

more of these currently underperforming pupils. Put another way, despite obvious 

impediments, Welsh educationalists cannot afford to sit back & allow the number of its 

pupils with additional learning needs to continue to rise year upon year, without the 

downward achievement spiral continuing. 

It is realistically possible to do something about it. How? First, throughout the Foundation 

Phase, the Welsh Government should ensure that all pupils enjoy either individually &/or 

collectively personal tuition in literacy & numeracy. This should become a fundamental right 

for pupils & their parents alike. Whenever pupils for behind their chronological reading & 

numeracy ages in literacy &/or numeracy, they should be entitled to additional support 

whether in one-to-one sessions or in ‘catch up’ classes. There is abundant research evidence 

from a range of countries that disadvantaged & less competent pupils can catch up with 

their reading & numeracy scores following periods away from school (whatever the reason 

whether illness or truancy)given as little as 6 to 10 weeks of intensive help & support. Once 

this happens, they gain in confidence, their self-esteem is raised & they can fully re-engage 

in the curriculum & enjoy their learning. 

In economic terms, this is the also the cheapest possible option in both the short & long-

term as the KPMG (2008) Foundation Report on the Long-Term Costs of Literacy Difficulties 

fully disclosed. These findings reinforced the two NPC Reports (2005a, b) on the costs of 

truancy & school absenteeism to the nation, whilst the NAO Report (2005) found that over a 

20-year period, & despite the plethora of new initiatives & financial incentives available in 

England, there had been no discernible improvement in school attendance. 

The only significant cost to the Welsh economy would come in the form of better training for 

teachers, classroom assistants & learning school mentors in reading, literacy & numeracy 

teaching & in providing group & one-to-one support. However, I think it necessary here to 

express a slight reservation about the calibre of some professionals who undertake this work 

Page 20



presently, although this should be relatively easy to remedy. Indeed, the calibre of some 

teachers in their own use of English &, in English language in particular, is a perennial 

concern to many professionals. 

3) THE ROLE OF THE EDUCATION WELFARE SERVICE 

 

The education welfare service (EWS) was initially established to ensure that pupils of 

compulsory school age attended school on a regular basis in accordance with the 

requirements of the 1944 Education Act. In some LA’s in England and North Wales, the EWS 

was renamed the education social work (ESW Service) because ,although remaining part of 

the Education Service within LA’s, their training was undertaken through social work 

qualifications. In recent years, the role of the EWS/ESW Service has become increasingly 

complicated. The Children Acts of 1989 & 2004,the Education Act of 1996, the Anti-Social 

Behaviour Act of 2003, amongst several more, have all complicated their role & the Service 

is no longer solely about non-attendance. 

A paper which I published in 2008 in Educational Studies showed how complex & variable 

the roles & responsibilities of the EWS/ESW Service was in 20 different authorities in 

England & Wales. In fact, the organisation, structure & specific responsibilities varied in 

every LA, partly caused by a lack of agreed national norms, terms of reference, salary scales, 

professionally-agreed responsibilities & local needs & history. Thus, apart from their core 

attendance roles, the EWS/ESW was given responsibility for a wide range of other legislative 

or educational provision. These included:  being the named exclusion officers; the lead child 

protection officers; the named anti-social behaviour officer; the officer responsible for 

licensing & child-age employment, CRB checks, & the named officer for parenting orders. 

Salaries for principal & senior EWO’s could vary by as much as three times between different 

LA’s with salaries generally much lower in most LA’s in Wales. Some LA’s contained both 

qualified ESW’s & non-qualified EWS, although, interestingly, they usually undertook similar 

overall responsibilities, despite being paid different salaries. Few staff had degrees & even 

some principal EWS staff are comparatively unqualified, some having joined the Service after 

previous careers in for example, the police or armed forces. There is considerable potential 

to upgrade this Service given employability availability levels. Recently, therefore, some EWS 

LA services are now beginning to include trained teachers. 

Equally, the ratio of EWS staff to total LA school population & the number of secondary 

schools varies considerably across England & Wales. For example, one smallish LA in England 

contained 48,000 pupils. It looks after 18 secondary schools. Yet it employed 20 full-time 

EWS staff at a ratio of 1 to 0.9 per secondary school. A similar-sized LA in Wales with also 

48,000 pupils contained 27 secondary schools & only 13 EWS staff at a ratio of one member 

of staff for every 2.08 secondary schools. In some English LA’s, there was more than one 

EWS staff member per secondary school; some having ratios of 0.51, 0.69, 0.5, 0.41, 0.48. 

0.7 per secondary school. Yet, the Welsh LA’s ratios were considerably higher with the 

poorest at 3.5 secondary schools for every EWS employee (& these data excluded altogether 

their related overall primary school responsibilities which is indicative of both the scale of 

the problem & there overall potential workloads). One Welsh LA had only four EWS staff for 

Page 21



almost 30,000 pupils with a secondary school attendance average hovering around 90%. The 

largest &, at the time, lowest - attending Welsh LA, had 26.4 EWS staff. By comparison a 

high- attendance English LA (rated Grade 1 by OFSTED) with approximately half the number 

of pupils & 13 fewer secondary schools, employed 50.5 EWS staff; more than twice as many. 

These differences are hard to comprehend & to justify despite the economic downturn. The 

corollary is that if the EWS in Wales faces further ‘cuts’ we should expect non-attendance in 

schools in Wales to rise unless a different solution is found. In part, present day EWS staffing 

levels reflects the ‘cuts’ which took place during the Thatcher era in Wales from which the 

Service has never fully recovered. It may be one of the factors why primary school non-

attendance levels at key stage 2 have risen as it has meant  that primary head teachers have 

often been left to ‘sink or swim’ by themselves. In fact, a number of primary head teachers 

now make the home visits formerly conducted by the EWS, otherwise nothing often 

happens. The same is true in parts of England. 

A third perspective on the issue can be found from further evidence in the same paper. LA’s 

with lower rates of EWS staff & those with the highest workloads tended to be found in LA’s 

in England & Wales (particularly) with the poorest overall rates of attendance & the highest 

levels of unauthorised absence. In this latter respect, some LA’s in Wales tended to have 

rates of unauthorised absence between 2 or 3 times higher than their counterparts in 

England. Is this purely coincidence? Almost certainly not. 

In other papers which I have published on the EWS between 2003 and 2008, it has been 

possible to show the wide range of differences between EWS/ESW Services in England & 

Wales in terms of the staff’s initial qualifications, CPD activity & longer-term career 

prospects .These data included work which I undertook with the NFER (Wales) on behalf of 

the Welsh Assembly Government between 2005/2006 &, since then, little appears to have 

changed much since. 

The reality however, is even more complicated. In one sense, the Welsh Government has 

acted very wisely over a decision which I endorse. It decided, partially upon my advice, to 

leave the role of the EWS Service unscathed post the Children Act, 2004. Parts of the 

Education Service in England took a different view. Following the Every Child Matters (2003) 

agenda, they decided hastily to integrate their children’s services & to amalgamate social 

services with Education in LA reorganisations. The consequences have seen a myriad of 

different outcomes for former EWS personnel. In Lancashire LA, for example, I was called in 

to give advice after existing EWS post the Children Act of 2004 were re-engaged as either 

qualified or unqualified social workers due to staff shortages & the new  prevailing English 

ethos. Thereafter, school attendance worsened considerably in a short period of time. 

Consequently ,in conjunction with senior LA staff, it was necessary to put together a Report 

which recommended the appointment of a new tier of home-school liaison officers to 

provide support to schools .Locally, some head teachers at primary, secondary & special 

school level had become significantly disgruntled to the extent that some were using their 

own funds to employ attendance officers/attendance support staff/ or  to appoint some of 

their own home/school liaison staff, sometimes at the expense of teaching posts, such was 

the perceived need & worsening of pupils’ attendance levels.  

Page 22



Similar events have occurred in other LA’s in England. Part of the original problem may have 

been the fact that whoever drafted the Children Act, 2004, forgot entirely about the school 

attendance regulations & the role of the EWS/ESW Service & of LA’s in this regard. The 

challenges brought by the introduction of the Children Act of 2004 & of the move towards 

greater integration between Health, Social services & Education remain a challenge too, for 

us in Wales; not least over the management of school attendance. Fortunately, at present, in 

one very real sense, there remains less confusion & blurring over responsibilities for school 

attendance in Wales. 

It may seem easy therefore, to conclude that by increasing significantly its pool of EWS/ESW 

staff & by providing better initial & CPD training, Welsh Education could significantly reduce 

its school attendance problems. But, this aspect remains only one part of a complex 

phenomenon in which the Service can continue to play a vital part. Another is for LA’s to 

revamp the roles & responsibilities of its existing EWS staff to ensure they have appropriate 

cover for both primary & special schools as well as for PRU’s; some of which receive very 

little help at present. Without this, early intervention strategies , as well as reintegration 

strategies (which the NBAR Report found to be very weak to the point of being non-existent 

in some LA’s in Wales), are unlikely to gain the necessary foothold they need. 

4) INSIDE SECONDARY SCHOOLS & LA’s 

 

a) Practical Issues 

Most schools in Wales now contain reasonably satisfactory school attendance, behaviour 

management & anti-bullying policy documents in one shape or form. As with their 

equivalent LA policy documents, some of these are better than others. There is a case for 

suggesting that the WG could draft one overarching & all-embracing policy document on 

each of these issues to cover every school & LA, if only for reasons of consistency as shown 

by judgements in recent legal cases. 

However, the management of school attendance varies by school & LA. So much depends 

upon personal interest & professional competence. Equally, the EWS varies similarly in 

Wales on this continuum. This year for example, I have been advising a Welsh LA on its 

school attendance policy & strategy. With comparatively little difficulty, it has proved 

possible to raise the LA from the relegation places on school attendance to fighting for the 

Premiership title. At the start of the project, over 75% of their primary schools were below 

91% attendance with many below 90%. Six months later, primary attendance has risen to 

over 92% with many having risen to 95/96% & higher. Similar improvements have occurred 

in the secondary sector. How & why has this been achieved? 

 First, because their new Director of Education was both surprised & disappointed to find the 

state of school attendance within the LA following his appointment after years of decline& 

relative neglect by his predecessors. Second, because the EWS was demoralised for a whole 

variety of different reasons with two members of a small staff off on long-term sickness. 

Third, because of the lack of a competent figure-head who could take charge & be able to 

champion the cause. Thereafter, after being called in to help, all the LA & EWS 

documentation was rewritten & re-launched with primary school head teachers/deputies & 

Page 23



secondary school staff retrained, a new Head of EWS appointed (who is extremely 

competent & has made a large difference),& governors, social services, police, voluntary 

service/agency & LA managers also trained. 

Whilst this is all positive, there is another side to the equation which is worth recording 

because it provides another telling insight. The secondary school in the LA with the largest 

attendance problem initially failed to send anyone to the day CPD event on improving school 

attendance. After a forcible reminder was sent to the school, a delegate was sent. However, 

this person was not a member of the school’s senior or middle management team. Nor did 

the head teacher respond personally. In fact, he was a comparatively junior member of staff. 

Hence, the key NBAR recommendation continues to be ignored inside some schools in 

Wales. Upon arrival, the individual asked the delegates as he entered the room if they could 

tell him why he had been selected & whether this signalled the beginning of the end of his 

career because the head teacher only considered him good enough to take charge of 

attendance. In fact, the reverse was true. It signalled exactly how the school SMT took their 

responsibilities for managing school attendance. 

 Over the years, I could replicate similar stories many times; not least when head teachers or 

members of SMT’s excuse themselves from in-service or CPD-events on attendance, often 

on the grounds that their staff need the training but they do not! Apparently, this rarely 

happens on curriculum-led issues. Therefore, there remains an attitudinal problem on the 

part of some educationalists in Wales over the management of school attendance & it is 

time for some of these staff to ’get real.’ 

b) School & LA Variations 

 There is considerable & consistent evidence in the literature of the effects of school       

differences upon rates of school attendance dating back to the 1970’s & the work of David 

Reynolds & Michael Rutter & others since. So much depends upon the quality of leadership, 

management styles, school ethos, standards of overall & individual subject teaching, home-

school relationships, pupil intake statistics, along with a host of other variables such as a 

school’s location & history, pupils’ social class backgrounds & the numbers of children 

receiving free school meals, amongst a large range of further possible measures. Exactly the 

same appears to hold true for LA’s, whether in Wales or elsewhere. 

In a study which I conducted & presented to the NBAR Review Team & which has 

subsequently been published in  the Journal entitled Educational Review in late 2008, 

teaching staff, EWS, classroom assistants & learning school mentors (LSM’S) gave the 

following reasons why their pupils chose to miss the schools in which they either taught or 

supported. These reasons included: 

1) the effects of other disaffected pupils upon their lessons & learning; 

2) the lack of vocational courses across the key stages; 

3) the effects of bullying; 

4) being behind in classes or school work (especially those with SEN, literacy or numeracy 

problems); 

5) poor relationship with teachers & other staff; 

Page 24



6) a dislike of particular school subjects; 

7) poor pastoral care; 

8) unreliable staff (eg too many staff absences, supply teachers etc); 

9) pupils’ low self-concepts; 

10) adverse peer pressures; 

11) pupils who do not feel safe in school or on the way to or from school. 

 

 It may be significant that this list excludes boredom which, in my own experience, is the first reason 

often given by pupils. 

 Space constraints prevent me from outlining further details here but it may be worth referring to 

the original article as it provides further evidence on professionals’ views on the home & 

psychological difficulties of absentees, the role which society plays in school absenteeism, local 

school & community-based issues, the government’s role, the nine areas which cause school 

absenteeism & why & finally, some of the ongoing issues needed to be resolved to improve school 

attendance. 

It is not uncommon for some teachers to blame pupils’ non-attendance & truancy upon their home 

backgrounds & social class. Whilst this is undoubtedly a key factor especially as most absentees & 

truants do emanate from low social class & defective home backgrounds, we should keep reminding 

ourselves that most pupils from low social class backgrounds attend school regularly. So do most 

pupils with little or limited home support or those who emanate from broken or dysfunctional 

families. Nevertheless, a larger proportion of absentees & truants do originate from backgrounds 

requiring free school meals or families regarded as living within or close to poverty. 

Over the years it has become entirely possible for me to be able to judge schools reasonably 

accurately on a variety of levels; you can quickly sense the atmosphere & the way staff & pupils 

communicate with one another. During my time as NBAR Chair, I visited a school in South Wales. 

There appeared to be no respect between pupils & teachers as manifest by the language used & 

some of the events that I witnessed. The size of the school has fallen appreciably from the times 

when I first got to know it over 30 years ago. A few days later I visited Willows High School in an 

equally difficult area & found a very different scenario. It is self-evident to me that schools which do 

not treat their pupils &/or parents with respect often have greater behavioural & non- attendance 

issues than those which do. When interviewed, some pupils will keenly make this point. 

5) THE LAW 

There is something seriously amiss on the law on school attendance as it does not work at a variety 

of levels & there is scope here for Wales to now change & amend these laws given their recent 

acquisition of more law-making powers. What are these issues? First, only a very small number of 

parents or carers are ever taken to court for their children’s non-attendance. Those that do often 

receive little or no punishment or are given derisory sentences or fines (given the amount of time , 

paperwork & layers of professionals involved in bringing the prosecution in the first place).Second, 

court proceedings & court outcomes are notoriously ad hoc & vary from case to case, day-to-day, & 

from one magistrate to another. Some magistrate’s clerks continue to give a low priority to non-

Page 25



attendance cases. The NBAR team were given detailed evidence on this issue by a senior official at 

an event in Mid-Wales during their evidence-gathering. 

My own view is that it is increasingly right to ask whether some pupils, as well as their parents or 

carers, should accept some of the blame & receive suitable penalties. After all, pupils today are 

much more mature than when the 1944 Education Act was drafted some 70 years ago. It is also my 

view that parents need to be personally inconvenienced more if they are to comply fully with the 

law. Therefore, better use & conditions could be applied to parenting orders. Parenting orders which 

inconvenienced parents at weekends or in their spare time might have more potential to work 

effectively & to make them ensure their children attended school regularly thereafter. Indeed, it is 

not clear to me why currently so few parenting orders are issued by courts. 

Similarly, better training for magistrates & magistrate’s clerks might help. So might whole or half-day 

sessions devoted to school absence cases be helpful for continuity purposes. The evidence from 

research over a sustained period of time is that to date, whatever has been tried to improve the 

outcomes of proven non-attendance cases, has never been very successful. There is surely a case 

here to explore & to find better all – Wales solutions. 

6)THE ROLE OF THE DES. 

The newly-titled DES plays a key role in managing attendance & related issues such as  in having 

oversight for managing pupils’ bullying, behaviour & exclusions. It seems to me that the NBAR 

Report successfully brought the Department ‘up to speed’ on the issues of behaviour & attendance 

from an administrative & managerial perspective. It is now time to move onto a new phase. In 

school attendance terms, this should be prevention & practical intervention. By prevention, I mean 

attempting to stop school absenteeism in the first place by utilising more & better early intervention 

strategies or sound re-integration policies. It will however, take more time for me to outline how the 

DES can utilise practical approaches more effectively. I do think there are several ways this could be 

achieved but, for the moment, it is not happening. So what can the DES do better? 

First, by analysing & utilising and using attendance data more effectively. This would include the 

analysis of school attendance data by region, LA, phase, gender & individual schools. This means not 

just receiving the data but challenging it rigorously, by writing a range of summative  interim &/or 

annual reports on it, by analysing data over given time periods (eg comparative analysis every two, 

three or five years etc), by challenging individual schools, LA’s & the sector to improve or to seek 

reasons why improvement  is not happening. Probably, this is a task for the new Performance 

Standards Unit. These reports should be a key component also of the work & lead provided to & by 

the School Effectiveness Framework (SEF) Unit. After all, if pupils do not attend school in the first 

place, standards in schools in Wales will never rise to their optimum levels. Neither for that matter 

will SEF be an all-embracing enterprise unless it starts from a position of inclusivity, thereby 

including all pupils within its framework & starting with the promotion of regular school attendance. 

Up until this point of time I have heard too little from the SEF team about the need to prioritise the 

raising of school attendance in Wales. I was disappointed not to have been invited to discuss the 

NBAR issues with key DES officials until the intervention of CT last autumn; over two years later, 

despite the previous Education Minister’s requests to me at the time of publication. 

Page 26



 Second, by DES staff emphasising the practical possibilities of improving school attendance & 

related behaviour in a number of different ways. These possibilities include for example, the 

utilisation of a range of school attendance & school change strategies such as the TL, SSTG, PSCC or 

SBS Schemes, the Family Values Scheme, the 5-Step Behaviour Change Scheme, Webster-Stratton, 

SEAL or the Solihull approach, amongst a range of other possibilities. Schools experiencing real non-

attendance difficulties require help in a practical way. Over the last 25 years, it has been my privilege 

to be involved in helping a range of failing schools & LA’s & to turn around the attendance fortunes 

of their schools & EWS teams. This is never an easy task. Moreover, when improvement occurs, the 

foot should never be removed from the gas or regression may soon occur as one or two schools 

have subsequently found. To be entirely successfully implemented,  the change strategy requires the 

whole-hearted agreement of the entire staff otherwise the schemes will not work. This is why 

sometimes failing schools or schools in special measures can be more receptive as there is a clear 

end product or goal in sight for all of them. Sometimes coasting schools are the most difficult in this 

respect. 

Third, by providing regular reports on good practice which can be logged on an attendance (& 

behaviour) DES website as envisaged in the original NBAR Report. 

6)ALTERNATIVE & MORE RADICAL APPROACHES 

There are a range of more radical & alternative approaches which might be considered. Some of 

these ideas are completely new. Others have potential but have only limited or no research evidence 

to support the concept at the present time. Some might include a need for a strong political 

imperative. But, fundamentally, given the seriousness of the school non-attendance problem in 

Wales, they may merit consideration even if some of them potentially may not go down well initially 

with some parts of the educational establishment. 

First, an idea generated by the Minister’s own presentation in Cardiff. Why not consider giving 

schools a separate grade on behaviour or attendance or both? This grade could be published & 

made freely available. Why could Estyn not give a published grade on behaviour & attendance as 

part of the end product of their inspection framework? After all, they already oversee this aspect as 

one part of their inspection framework. Why could the new DES Standards Unit & Estyn not 

collaborate between themselves better & share information on this issue as these data change 

annually? I would be tempted to throw data on fixed & permanent exclusions into the same mix as 

well. 

Second, why not extend the powers of governing bodies on behaviour & attendance to require a full 

analytical report to be sent to them on an annual basis by the head teacher at the end of each year? 

This should be discussed by the full meeting & signed off by them following amendments or follow 

up action? The Clerk should ensure this is a regular agenda item. This report could also form the 

basis for one part of the head teacher’s performance review? It would certainly help focus minds & 

provide a much needed impetus for managing school attendance within some institutions. 

Third, why not enforce attendance at compulsory parenting classes for all those parents or carers 

whose children fail to make 90% of attendance or set the bench mark lower initially & gradually raise 

it say, from 70 to 80%?The timing of these classes could be another interesting discussion point (eg 

evenings or weekends)? 

Page 27



Fourth, why not prioritise the in-service & CPD budgets to ensure all core pastoral staff are trained in 

attendance matters & to provide classroom assistants, LSM’s & teachers (especially primary & early 

years & foundation support  staff) with adequate help with early intervention strategies, effective 

literacy & numeracy approaches, including the best ways to implement one-to-one & small group 

work? 

Fifth, & this is a radical idea, but it could be a real winner, especially with parents or carers & pupils 

unhappy or disaffected within their existing schools. Why not introduce new legislation to give 

parents or carers an opportunity to change schools at the end of year nine before they start their 

GCSE’s? If parents are happy with their children’s progress & the pupils themselves are also content 

& happy (especially as their friends will be there), they will not wish to change schools. But, if they 

opt to do so, they will be given a fresh start. Personally, I think this could be a vote winner, unique to 

Wales, & do as much to raise standards & improve attendance as any other single measure. But, it 

may not be universally popular in some quarters! 

Sixth, and this is an idea which I first proposed near the start of Jane Davidson’s term as Minister, 

why not establish ‘second chance’ schools in Wales, especially in the urban conurbations? There are 

several types of alternative or second chance schools. Sefton, for example, provides specialist 

schools for pupils who are unhappy in their original school. These might include pupils who are able 

but being bullied. Or, for pupils who are particularly gifted in creative subjects but may not fit in well 

in a typical secondary school. OfSTED has commended Sefton for its approach in alternative 

education in which it offers a range of provision. Conwy is perhaps the only LA in Wales to follow 

similar approaches, albeit in a different format. 

 Leeds provides second chance opportunities/schools for pupils who leave school at 16 with minimal 

qualifications. They are supported for a further two years if they wish to re-enter education. The 

second chance centres are located in former schools. As Leeds has a serious falling school population 

& is closing annually a number of schools, finding the facilities is not a problem. The original second 

chance schools were funded from European sources & would be ideal for the SE Wales & Valleys 

areas like Newport, Swansea or Cardiff; all of which have current serious non-attendance problems. 

These centres are staffed by a mixture of teachers & skills experts & provide career opportunities in 

specialist areas as well as help in vocational & traditional subjects. The evaluations of these schemes 

showed that a high proportion of pupils who had failed at school the first time around subsequently 

were successful at entering & achieving well in FE or HE. Some pupils chose a mixture of subjects in 

the centres; others specialised. They would provide a real alternative & opportunities for potential 

or actual NEETS. 

Seventh, why not make a change in the law in Wales to make it possible for pupils aged 14 to 16 to 

be allowed to attend FE colleges where they would more readily be able to follow vocational 

options? I believe this could prove a very popular option for a certain cross section of pupils & would 

be welcomed by FE staff that would rise to the challenge. Again, it might help to raise both 

attendance & standards.  

Finally, why not make some fundamental changes to ITT to enable staff to become specialists in 

working with less able & difficult pupils. These teachers could be prepared & encouraged to develop 

specialist skills. After all, this is what I did after my first year in a secondary modern school & in my 

subsequent years in a large comprehensive. The experience gained in being put in charge of learning 

Page 28



for a large group of less able, underachieving pupils & 120 disaffected pupils  located in a peculiarly- 

named off/on site unit enriched me both as a person & professional & the lessons which I learnt 

have stayed with me throughout my career ( as, by now, you should have discovered!). 

CONCLUSION 

I very much hope that you, Minister & CT will find considerable merit in this Updated NBAR Report 

focussing on school attendance, which you requested. I believe this Report contains a very real basis 

for raising levels of school attendance in Wales at both the primary & secondary stages. I look 

forward to discussing the issues further with you in the near future about how this may be achieved. 

 

APPENDIX 1: COPY OF A FORTHCOMING PAPER TO BE PUBLISHED IN A MAJOR INTERNATIONAL 

REFEREED JOURNAL IN THE NEAR FUTURE, previously written & accepted for publication in late 

2010, prior to new NBAR UPDATE REPORT being  requested by the MINISTER. This paper provides 

some additional evidential information in support of the content provided in the NBAR UPDATE 

REPORT. 

This paper has since been published In Education Review, 64, 2, 196-211. 

THE STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT OF TRUANCY and SCHOOL ABSENTEEISM:  FINDING SOLUTIONS 

FROM A NATIONAL PERSPECTIVE 

                                                             KEN REID 

 

                                                                 ABSTRACT 

This paper has been written specifically from two perspectives. First, because of the research and 

professional activity carried out by the author in the field for over forty years. Second, as a 

consequence of the author chairing the National Behaviour & Attendance Review (NBAR) in Wales 

and writing the subsequent Report (NBAR, 2008),  as well as being involved in subsequent follow up 

activities. Given this unique expertise, it seemed appropriate to reflect upon how school attendance 

rates could be improved and truancy reduced. In order to achieve this task the author first reflects 

on key issues in the published data before considering the implications from a strategic and 

managerial perspective. Finally, a short action plan is presented which could be followed by national 

governments or local authorities alike, whilst the fundamental principles are relevant to both 

teachers and schools as well as pointing the way forward for future research. 

 

KEY WORDS 

Truancy, School Absenteeism, Persistent school absenteeism, Management, Strategic Management 

 

 

Page 29



INTRODUCTION 

This paper has been written from two complimentary perspectives. First, as a result of the authors 

research and professional activity in the field which, to date, has lasted for over forty years. Second, 

as a consequence of the author chairing the processes involved in the National Behaviour and 

Attendance Review in Wales which took place between 2006-2008, as well as involvement in 

subsequent follow up activities (NBAR, 2007; 2008; WAG,2009; Reid,2011a,b).Historically, South 

Wales has always had higher & disproportionate rates of truancy and non-attendance than the rest 

of the United Kingdom (UK) (Reid, 2004a); a position which continues even now. Given this unique 

expertise, it seemed appropriate to reflect upon how school attendance rates could be improved 

and truancy reduced. Therefore, in order to complete this task, the writer first reflects on some of 

the most significant features in the published literature before considering the implications from 

both a strategic and managerial perspective. Towards the end of the paper, a short action plan is 

presented which could be usefully analysed, followed & implemented by national governments 

and/or local authorities (LA’s) alike. The fundamental principles are also relevant for head teachers, 

teachers and other professional groups as well helping to point the way forward for future research. 

It should be noted that England, Northern Ireland, Wales and Scotland are following increasingly 

different policies and strategies to combat pupils’ non-attendance and truancy since the advent of 

devolution (Reid,2010b). 

BACKGROUND & SIGNIFICANT CLUES 

A) Home Backgrounds & Schools 

Who are school absentees & truants & where do they come from? Research has consistently shown 

that the majority of school absentees & truants emanate from deprived working class and social 

class backgrounds (Tyerman, 1968; Reid, 1985; 1999).The vast majority of pupils from these 

backgrounds attend school normally and regularly so, at best, this is only one factor. Reid measured 

a group of 128 persistent school absentees with two control groups. The first control group was 

matched for gender, background and nearest birth date but were excellent attendees. The second 

control group were matched similarly but were academic high fliers. The results showed that there 

were several significant and statistically significant social, psychological and institutional differences 

between the three groups (Reid, 1982a; b; 1983a;b; 1984a).As similar work has never been 

replicated, it is worth reiterating some of these key findings, although some of those being 

highlighted may not be the most obvious ones in some people’s eyes. 

First, whilst the persistent absentees made allowances for the behaviour and negative attitude of 

their parents towards schools and teachers as measured by the use of specially constructed 

repertory grids  (Reid, 1983d) they made no such allowances for some of their teachers which begs 

the question why not? The answer, but in my judgement only part of the answer, lies in natural 

family loyalty ties as well as because some teachers seem less well inclined to  interact well with 

certain types of pupils and may even lower their threshold standards accordingly (Reid,1986). 

Teaching disaffected & challenging pupils is never easy (Reid, 2010a). 

B) Self-concepts, Literacy & Numeracy 

Page 30



Second, & to me perhaps the key finding, the persistent school absentees had statistically lower 

academic self-concepts & general levels of self-esteem than their counterparts. Therefore, an 

obvious corollary. If you wish to improve school attendance, you may first have to raise the self-

esteem levels of certain groups of vulnerable pupils. This may not be an easy task given teachers’ 

busy lives. It is however, absolutely essential. Let me elaborate upon this point further. The NBAR 

Report (2008, pages 18-21) reiterated the earlier work of the National Children’s Bureau (NCB) 

Cohort studies ( eg Davie et al, 1972) which found that pupils like school absentees and truants 

emanated from pupils with literacy and numeracy levels well below their chronological ages, with 

this gap continuing to increase with age. Teaching pupils to catch up with their literacy and 

numeracy performance levels is also not easy and it is costly & time consuming (KPMG, 2008). 

Nevertheless, it is fundamental to raising pupils’ self-esteem and therefore, to raising school 

attendance and decreasing truancy. Sadly, despite my findings over the years, politicians and policy 

makers alike continue to ignore the importance of this result as well as its implications (Reid, 

1982c).Given declining literacy levels amongst some key groups, schools currently have no shortage 

of clients in this category at both primary and secondary levels (Reid, 2011a); a position which is 

becoming acute increasingly in Wales (Reid,2011b). 

Greenwood, Kratochwill and Clements (2008, page 10) argue the failure to learn to read is an 

impairment of ability that severely restricts competence because reading is a keystone necessity for 

all future success. Estimates suggest that 74% of poor readers in the Third Grade remain poor 

readers in the Ninth Grade and are more likely to drop out of school, engage in criminal activity and 

substance abuse (Whitehurst and Lonigon, 2001) whilst children and adults who cannot read are 

unable to address their health needs which is a wider personal, educational, economic and public 

health problem. Greenwood et al  (2008, page 15) suggest their three-tiered model of prevention is 

predicated upon the research which shows that reading and behaviour problems after the Third 

Grade affect increasingly pupils’ ability to learn and comprehend subject matter which, in turn, can 

lead to delinquency, early parenthood, drug use and other high risk behaviours (Reid and Eddy, 

1997). Similarly,Chard and Kameenui (2000) note that 75% of the prison population in the USA are 

poor readers. These studies confirm the early longitudinal work undertaken by the National Children 

Bureau researchers who followed a cohort of pupils born in 1958 through school and into adulthood 

(Davie et al, 1972; Fogelman, 1976; NBAR, 2008, pages 19-21). 

The University of Bristol Study (2010) for The Joseph Rowntree Foundation found similar results. 

Young people are more likely to do well at GCSE if the young person him/herself: has greater belief 

in his/her own ability at school; believes that events result primarily from his/her own behaviours 

and actions; finds school worthwhile; thinks it is likely he/she will apply to, and get into, higher 

education; avoids risky behaviour such as frequent smoking, cannabis use, anti-social behaviour, 

truancy, suspension and exclusion; and does not experience bullying. 

C) Changes in Truancy & School Absenteeism in Recent Years 

Third, the types of truants and truancy have changed significantly over the last thirty forty years. 

Truancy used to be a largely male phenomenon ( Tyerman, 1968). Today, a slight majority of girls 

predominate in England, Scotland & Wales (Malcolm, Wilson, Davidson & Kirk, 2003). Boy truants  

however, still undertake around six times more serious  criminal offences than girls (Smith, 

2004).There has been a growth in group truancy; much of it pre-meditated ( Reid,2002 a), a rise in 

Page 31



gangs & girl gangs (2008a) & within & out-of –school bullying appears to be related increasingly to 

truancy & non-attendance ( Darmody, Smyth &McCoy, 2008; McCluskey  et al, 2008; McIntyre-

Bhatty,2008; Gastic,2008).Whereas around one in four or five boys could be classified as a disruptive 

truant ( Reid, 1984b), today we have a rise in disaffected youngsters both boys & girls (Reid,1985; 

1986; 2008a).Recent changes for the causes of school absenteeism and the reasons given  by pupils 

to justify their non-attendance and truancy include cyber bullying,  boredom, the growth of ADHT & 

related syndromes including mental health disorders (Reid,2008a) ,and ,interestingly, from a 

professional  perspective, perceived failings in the National Curriculum (NC); not least the lack of 

vocational  opportunities ( Malcolm et al 2003; Reid, 2005b; 2005d; 2006c; 2007a; 2007b).Not all 

pupils are likely to become potential academics and the limited subject choice in the NC is often 

considered to be a handicap for less able and lower ability pupils. 

Perhaps most worrying, is the growth of school absenteeism and truancy amongst younger-aged 

pupils, most notably at key stage 2 ( 8 to 11 years-old). Around 35/36% of all school absentees now 

begin their histories of non-attendance at primary school which compares seriously unfavourably 

with research into school attendance some thirty, forty and fifty years ago when truancy from 

primary schools was a comparatively rare phenomenon( Tyerman, 1968; Reid,1985).Some people 

have attributed this to the earlier maturational processes of children today; others to feckless and 

incompetent parenting skills or the growth of single parent families or even adult illiteracy 

(Reid,1999). What is of concern is that more younger-aged pupils are getting involved with serious 

behavioural problems outside school or have become victims of bullying (Reid, 2008a).Therefore, all 

the available research evidence points toward the need for much earlier intervention. 

D) The Need for Earlier Intervention 

Fourth,  & as a variety of reports for LA’s indicate,  most interventions with truants take place much 

too late ( Reid, 2004c; 2005e; 2006c).Typically, research evidence suggest that potential early 

interventions are six times more likely to be successful than those after pupils’ non-attendance has 

reached the persistent stage (Reid, 2002a). Equally, whilst there is normally one initial reason 

(sometimes referred to as ‘the trigger point’ )for the pupils’ non-attendance( whether social, 

psychological or institutional ), by the time pupils’ absences have reached the persistent stage, there 

are at least several more reasons used to justify the action. In my experience, the psychological 

processes of retroactive inhibition & cognitive dissonance are at work inside the minds of pupils to 

justify their behaviour; whether they realise it or not! Often the combination of  these reasons are 

much more serious to overcome, especially after boys and girls reach adolescence, and during key 

stages 3 and 4 at school (Reid, 1983c).Similar points are made by Graham Allen, MP and the Rt Hon 

Iain Duncan Smith in their Report entitled good Parents, Great Kids, Better Citizens (Allen and 

Smith,2008). 

 

E) School  and LA Organisation and Intervention Strategies 

Fifth, and once again, these phenomena are compounded by the existing organisation of schools and 

local authorities and their inability to relate to and resolve the needs of individual pupils. Let me give 

you but two, of many, potential examples. The position has been made worse in some LA’s in 

England (and to a lesser extent in Wales) since the introduction of the Every Child Matters agenda 

Page 32



(Reid, 2005a). Why? First, because there  is a chronic shortage of education welfare 

officers/education social workers (EWO’s) in some LA’s in the United kingdom  (UK), particularly in 

Wales where levels and caseloads  per individual EWO can be up to four times higher than in 

England (Reid, 2008c). Whereas EWO’s only used to have responsibility for managing non-

attendance as outlined under the 1944 Education Act, in the last twenty years, with burgeoning 

legislation , their roles have increased expeditiously. Despite this, the precise roles of EWO’s tend to 

vary from one  LA to another (Reid,2004c;2005e;2006e; Reid et al 2007; 2008).Moreover, some 

primary head teachers have little or no support from EWO’s. Therefore, pupils’ initial social, home, 

psychological, learning or school-based problems often lie undetected and their unhappiness 

ferments and grows. ‘Treatments’, if that is the right word, are often punitive rather than 

therapeutic, especially for parents and carers .These negative  processes (although legally justified)  

tend often to only exacerbate the position, although, increasingly, much better and more 

professional intervention strategies are beginning to take place. 

In some parts of the UK, the move towards the integration of health, education & social services, 

whilst possibly theoretically sound, has added to significant communication challenges on the 

ground , especially with case work involving children & their families. In fact, in some LA’s, EWO’s act 

as auxiliary social workers because finding suitably-qualified social workers in some parts of the UK, 

especially in certain larger conurbations, is never easy and there are frequent turnovers of staff 

which means that parents, carers or absentees and truants often do not receive regular support 

from the same caseworker in a similarly consistent manner. This is a cause of concern and irritation 

for many parents and carers (NBAR, 2008a,b).Often it is these frustrating  professional shortages of 

either EWO’s or social workers which have forced schools to appoint their own attendance 

officers/secretaries or specialist classroom assistants or learning school mentors to deal with their 

own attendance issues ( Reid,2010d). 

Similarly, the move towards more school-based EWO support has meant that many secondary heads 

have much less EWO support than was formerly the case, whilst the ‘Cinderella’ EWO Service (which 

took the full brunt of the ‘cuts’ in the early 1980’s) seems to be facing the same challenges again. 

The lack of available EWO support is a constant grouse amongst the teaching profession throughout 

the UK (Reid, 2004a; 2006a; 2006b; 2006c; 2007a;2007b) as is their poor training , qualification and 

staff development opportunities (Reid  et al, 2007;2008).In turn, these professional shortages are 

frequently  compounded by  the chronic lack of availability and numbers  of educational 

psychologists in some parts of the UK. Each school and LA tends to organise its support for pupils’ 

non-attendance differently depending upon their specific circumstances (Reid, 2004c; 2005c; 2006e; 

Reid et al, 2007, 2008). 

Equally, despite national guidelines and school attendance policy documents (Reid, 2000 ), some 

schools, rather like teachers and LA’s, are rather better at managing school attendance than others 

(Malcolm et al, 2003; Reid,2005b;  c;2006d;2007c; d).Some schools and LA’s utilise strategic 

management and monitoring strategies such as the TL, PSCC, SSTG or other schemes (Reid, 2003a;b; 

2004b;2007e), or variants of them whilst others choose not to do so. Increasingly, some schools are 

utilising wider embracing community-based or family-based schemes (eg the Family Values Scheme, 

Ellis, Morgan & Reid,2012) or after-school or out-of-school clubs (Reid,2003c).There is currently 

more and better practice taking place within schools and LA’s than ever before but as the NAO 

(2005) & NPC(2005a; b )Reports  remind us, pupils’ non-attendance and truancy is stubbornly 

Page 33



difficult to reduce, despite the huge increase in resources and initiatives which have taken place in 

England since the advent of the Blair Labour Government/Administration in 1997( Reid,2002a). 

F) Further Research Evidence 

Sixth, some additional research evidence is worth considering. These studies include the sponsored 

research projects undertaken by: 

a) Morris and Rutt (2004) who found that a small percentage of persistent absentees seriously 

undermined some schools overall rates of non-attendance and unauthorised absence. 

b) Dalziel and  Henthorne (2005)who showed that the attitudes towards schools and teachers  of a 

minority of parents & carers of school absentees was markedly worse and poorer than the general 

parent population (NB We need to remember that some pupils  are truants of third and fourth-

generational  ‘truancy families’). 

c) Croll and Moses (2005) who explored the different value systems of different kinds of pupils 

including truants. It may well be that future research will be able to identify further personality or 

psychological processes which affect the thinking of pupils like truants and absentees, especially as 

we know that both boy and girl persistent absentees share much in common such as lower self-

esteem (Reid, 1985). 

d) O’Keefe et al (1993) who found that specific lesson absence (often excluded from normal national 

and local statistics on school attendance ) was the highest form of non-attendance/truancy 

(depending upon your definition and perspective) in some schools and LA’s, although this is an often 

under discussed issue in the literature. This is one of several reasons why official statistics on pupils’ 

non-attendance should be treated with scepticism. Others include the fact that it is difficult for 

teachers and schools to provide accurate unauthorised absence returns given that these often rely 

upon secondary information/letters/notes from parents whilst the policy in some schools more than 

others is to rigorously record pupils’ unauthorised absences. By contrast other schools do everything 

possible to minimise their true unauthorised absence rates, sometimes encouraged by LA staff. 

THE IMPLICATIONS & GUIDING PRINCIPLES 

For the purposes of the rest of this paper, we shall assume an ideal world. Hence, no account will be 

taken of ‘cuts’ or other economic woes. The assumption will be that the needs of vulnerable children 

should come first and should be a key priority for any advanced caring society. This is not being 

naive. Rather, it is a recognition that if you wish to find solutions, there may be a cost factor. As the 

NAO Report (2005) indicated, the consequences of doing nothing will eventually cost the tax payer 

more in the long-term. 

The key principles behind these ideas are: 

1) to enable all pupils to achieve success; 

2) to facilitate and raise the self-esteem of vulnerable pupils; 

3) to enable all pupils and parents to value schooling and their own learning & achievement; 

4) to focus upon early intervention; 

5) to ensure that all professionals are properly trained for their tasks; 

Page 34



6) to complement existing national and local school improvement and effectiveness strategies 

alongside individual professional and school development plans; 

7) to  make parents and/or carers part of the overall planning team for their children’s 

schooling and to ensure they accept ownership for their responsibilities; 

8) To place improved literacy and numeracy at the centre of the proposals. 

 

Prospective Action Plan                                                                      

In order to combat and reduce school absenteeism and truancy, the following actions and 

interventions would need to be undertaken at both a national strategic level and at local levels. 

These are: 

a) Ensure that all pupils can enjoy and achieve success. Too many pupils like truants fall behind 

in their levels of academic success very early during their learning often because of 

inadequate literacy and numeracy competencies. Therefore, it is essential to enable these 

pupils to catch up as expeditiously as possible using such interventions as one-to-one 

strategies involving for example, classroom assistants or learning school mentors (LSM’s). 

These latter staff should be appropriately trained in the best literacy, numeracy & pupil 

support interventions. Frequently they are not. In fact, some have had little or no training 

whatsoever apart from the normal induction processes. Moreover, some have few English 

language or use of English skills and this is surely fundamental.  

b) Thereafter, each of these ‘at risk’ pupils should be monitored and follow individual support 

plans as envisaged in the Every Child Matters agenda. In some LA’s, this is also still not 

occurring. Schools should use early intervention strategies, particularly so they can intercede 

at the point of initial absence in order to overcome the drift towards the more persistent 

phase. Currently, this is precisely what is not happening in far too many schools partly 

because of the culture/history of the school and the large number of pupils involved in 

school absenteeism as well as the high workloads and additional pressures upon staff. 

However, at least in both theory & practice all these kinds of activities should help to raise 

pupils’ self-esteem. 

c) In order to facilitate a) and b) above, some specialist  EWS liaison work inside schools, 

especially within primary schools, should be taking place to identify vulnerable pupils and to 

undertake needs and/or risk assessments, which might for some categories of pupils , 

involve making home visits at the earliest possible  opportunity. Unfortunately, the current 

state and shortages of EWO’s is militating against this happening successfully. Moreover, the 

embryonic nature of improving and creating a better interaction between health, social 

services and educational services is often hampering efforts on the ground. Therefore, either 

more and better qualified EWO staff will need to be appointed or some alternative 

‘Attendance Officer’ posts created, perhaps under the control of head teachers. This need is 

especially critical at primary school level (particularly at key stage 2 ) and in the early years 

of secondary schooling. Whilst there will be a cost factor, both the short-term gains in 

educational performance and in school attendance, alongside the long-term societal gains, 

should make the additional costs a shrewd investment. 

d) More effective work needs to be undertaken to combat bullying in schools (Reid, 1989c,d) 

including cyber bullying. The consequences of cyber bullying are only just beginning to be 

Page 35



understood and this is an area where further research is urgently needed. Nevertheless, the 

indications are that  on-site & external bullying, along with cyber bullying, are two of the 

main reasons for local increases in non-attendance in some schools (Reid, 2008b).The 

reasons for school exclusions & the role of pupil referral units (PRU’s) are other fields which 

require further research (Daniels et al, 2003;Reid,2009a). 

e) There needs to be better analysis of local and national school attendance data to detect 

trends, patterns and in-school weaknesses. For example, why do some pupils skip certain 

lessons and days and not others (Reid, 2009b; c; 2010a; b; c)? These local and national 

patterns should be discussed at local head teacher forums and in national strategy 

conferences. Comparative analysis reports between schools (at both national or local levels) 

could be especially effective in this regard; not least as part of national or local school 

improvement or school effectiveness or school improvement  initiatives. In extreme 

circumstances, closing schools with very high rates of non-attendance might be an option. 

f) There needs to be a major re-think about the concept of punishing parent/s or carer/s for 

their children’s non-attendance. Existing   punishments are notoriously ineffective (Zhang, 

2004). Governments  should consider or pursue one of two possible routes or even both in a 

complementary manner .First, by  ensuring that inadequacies on the part of parents result in 

them either losing part of their free time (eg at weekends in undertaking community service) 

or by ensuring they attend compulsory parenting classes. In my experience, parents of 

truants hate being inconvenienced more than anything else, especially if it coincides with 

their valuable free time .This sanction would be far more effective and enforceable than 

fines. Second, the introduction of such projects  as the Family Values Scheme (Ellis, Morgan 

& Reid,2012 ) is another potential route , alongside  perhaps, the ’ Incredible  Years’ 

(Webster-Stratton,2006)  or other approaches. 

g) Another potential area to explore is through implementing  more innovative out-of-school 

programmes (Reid,2003c) or better in-school initiatives which broaden pupils’ experiences 

and provide them with rich experiences they might otherwise never enjoy. Research already 

indicates that some less able and working class pupils attend school regularly for 

‘compensatory’ reasons. These include meeting friends & participating in school clubs and 

societies, such as sport , music and drama ( Reid, 1985). 

h) Research also suggests that some potential or actual pupils benefit from reduced timetables 

which focus on the basics (literacy & numeracy) and, in secondary schools, upon vocational 

routes. Following certain lessons may be counter- productive, however desirable and is a key 

factor in specific-day absence. Explicitly, some girls will do anything to miss physical 

education when swimming is involved. Better learning pathways between secondary schools 

and further education (FE) colleges would be of benefit here and, in the long-term, prove to 

be a cheaper option. 

i)  School and LA staff, including EWO’s ( Reid,2006b) need much better training in managing 

school attendance, especially in Wales where no national training schemes currently 

exist(NBAR, 2007; 2008; Reid,2011c; d ; e),although this is a general problem throughout the 

United Kingdom (UK).  Perhaps surprisingly, managing school attendance is a weakness of 

many existing head teachers (Reid, 2007a). As so many truants skip school because of their 

own or others behaviour in the classroom, better behavioural management training at a 

whole variety of levels is another prime requisite (NBAR, 2007; 2008). Schemes such as the 

Page 36



5-Stop Behaviour Programme could be helpful in this regard (Morgan, Ellis & Reid, 2012), 

especially with disruptive absentees (Reid, 1984c; 1989a,b). 

j) Another possible route which has not yet been tried before is to grade schools on their 

competence of managing school attendance and possibly, behaviour, especially given the 

disparity on this issue in school inspection reports (Reid, 2005b; c; 2006d; 2007c;d ).This 

would certainly provide incentives to head teachers, senior managers and schools , more 

especially if it was included as part of a school profile which was published. Programmes on 

managing school attendance (and bullying  & challenging  behaviour) should become an 

essential element of training programmes for school leadership and headship. New teachers 

and those in their early professional development need better training on implementing 

successful intervention strategies with pupils. 

k) Finally, further  research to explore pupils’ views about their own attendance and behaviour 

is another fruitful avenue for research (Reid et al ,2010a;b) as are restorative justice 

schemes within schools (McCluskey  et al, 2008). Both of these outlets could potentially be 

used to help pupils to accept more responsibility for their own actions. 

 

CONCLUSIONS 

 

Although some of these ideas are not entirely new, they have never previously been put 

together as part of a single programme. This all-embracing programme could be introduced 

as part of a strategic initiative at a national level and facilitated by complementary 

approaches at an LA and school level. It is suggested that policy makers and politicians 

should adopt and implement this strategic programme, alongside the related planning & 

training programmes. If undertaken, the author is confident it will help to raise rates of 

school attendance and reduce truancy in a comparatively short timescale. The real search 

for solutions to pupils’ non-attendance and truancy (Reid, 2011f) needs to start in earnest. 

Further and more innovative research in this field is not only urgently needed but overdue. It 

would make sense for this innovative research to utilise the ideas outlined in this paper. 

Rather than attempting to find political solutions to the problem, it may be better to start 

focussing upon the learning needs of all pupils, more especially those from deprived 

backgrounds, with poor parental support, literacy and numeracy problems in their early 

school years, with low self-esteem and related familial, social, psychological and in-school 

problems. The earlier these issues are identified, the more likely the intervention is to be 

successful.  At present, far too many interventions with pupils like absentees and truants 

occur far too late in their school careers. 

 

                                                                        REFERENCES 

Allen, G & Smith, I D S (2008) Good Parents, great kids, Better citizens, Report, London, The Centre 

for social justice, The Smith Institute 

Chard,D J and Kameenui, E J (2000) Struggling first grade readers: the frequency & progress of their 

reading, The Journal of Special Education, 34,28-38 

Page 37



 Croll, P & Moses, D (2005) The formation & transmission of educational values & orientation, 

Reading, University of Reading             

Dalziel, D & Henthorne, K (2005) Parents’/Carers’ attitudes towards school attendance, London, 

Report for the DFES 

Daniels, H et al (2003) Study of young people permanently excluded from school, London, DFES 

Darmody, M Smyth, E & McCoy, S (2008) Acting up or opting out? Truancy in Irish secondary schools, 

Educational Review, 60, 4, 359-374 

Davie, R, Butler, N & Goldstein, H (1972) From Birth to Seven, London, Longmans 

Ellis, G, Morgan, N & Reid, K (2012) The Family Values Scheme, London, Routledge 

Fogelman, K (1976) Britain’s 16-year-olds, London, Longman/National Children’s Bureau 

Gastic, B (2008) School truancy & the disciplinary problems of bullying victims, Educational Review, 

60, 4, 391-404 

KPMG (2008) Foundation Report on the Long-term Costs of Literacy Difficulties, London, KPMG 

McCluskey, G, Lloyd, G, Kane, J, Riddell, S, Stead ,J & Weedon, E (2008) Can restorative practices in 

schools make a difference?, Educational Review, 60, 4, 405-418 

McIntyre-Bhatty, K (2008) Truancy & coercive consent: Is there an alternative? , Educational Review, 

60,4,375-390 

Malcolm, H, Wilson, J, Davidson, J & Kirk, S (2003) Absence from  school  : A study of its causes & 

effects in seven LEA’s, Nottingham, DFES 

Morgan, N, Ellis, G & Reid, K (2012) The Five-stop behaviour Scheme, London,  Routledge 

Morris , M & Rutt , S (2004) Analysis of pupil attendance data in Excellence in Cities areas, 

Nottingham, DFES 

NAO (2005) Improving School attendance in England, London, the National Audit Office 

NBAR (2007) The National Behaviour & Attendance Review in Wales: Interim Report, Cardiff, Welsh 

Assembly Government 

NBAR (2008) The National Behaviour & Attendance Review in Wales: Final Report Of An 

Independent Group Chaired by Professor K Reid, Cardiff, Welsh Assembly Government 

NPC (2005a) The Costs of Truancy & School Exclusion, London, New Philanthropy Capital 

NPC (2005b) School’s Out, London, New Philanthropy Capital 

O’Keefe, D et al (1993) Truancy in English Secondary Schools, London, DFES  

Reid, K (1982a) Persistent school absenteeism, Westminster Studies in Education, 5, 27-35 

Page 38



Reid, K (1982b) School organisation & persistent school  absenteeism :  an introduction to a complex 

problem, School Organisation, 2,1 , 45-52 

 Reid, K (1982c) The self-concept & persistent school absenteeism, British Journal of Educational 

Psychology, 52, 2, 179-187 

Reid, K (1982d) Persistent school absenteeism, Westminster Studies in Education, 5, 27-35 

Reid, K (1983a) Institutional factors & persistent school absenteeism, Educational Management & 

Administration, 11, 17-27 

Reid, K (1983b) Retrospection & persistent school absenteeism, Educational Research, 25, 2, 110-

115 

Reid, K (1983c) Differences between the perception of persistent absentees towards parents & 

teachers, Educational Studies, 9, 3, 211-219 

Reid, K (1984a) Some social, psychological, & educational aspects related to persistent school 

absenteeism, Research in Education, 31, 63-82 

Reid, K (1984b)The behaviour of persistent school absentees, British Journal of educational 

Psychology, 54, 320-330 

Reid, K (1984c) Disruptive persistent school absentees, chapter in: Frude , N & Gault , H (eds) 

Disruptive behaviour in Schools ,Chichester, John Wiley 

Reid, K (1985) Truancy & School absenteeism, London, Hodder  & Stoughton 

Reid, K (1986) Disaffection  From School, London, Methuen 

Reid, K (Ed) (1989a) Helping Troubled Pupils in Secondary Schools, Volume 1, Oxford, Basil Blackwell 

Reid, K (Ed) (1989b) Helping Troubled Pupils in Secondary Schools, volume 2, Oxford, Basil Blackwell 

Reid, K (1989c) Bullying: chapter in Helping Troubled Pupils in Secondary Schools, volume 2, Oxford, 

Basil Blackwell, 

Reid, K (1989d) Bullying & Persistent School Absenteeism, chapter in: Tattum , D P & Lane, D A (eds) 

Bullying in Schools, Stoke-on Trent, Trentham  Books 

Reid, K (1999) Truancy & Schools, London, Routledge  

Reid, K ( 2000) Tackling Truancy in Secondary schools, London,  Routledge 

Reid K (2002a) Truancy: Short & Long-term Solutions, London, Routledge 

Reid, K (2002b) Mentoring with disaffected pupils, Mentoring & Tutoring,10, 2, 153-169 

Reid , K (2003a) Strategic approaches to tackling school absenteeism & truancy: the traffic lights (TL) 

scheme, Educational Review, 55,3, 305-321  

Page 39



Reid, K (2003b) A strategic approach to tackling school absenteeism & truancy: the PSCC scheme, 

Educational Studies ,29 , 4, 351-371 

Reid, K (2003c) An evaluation of an out-of-school-learning project in South Wales, Mentoring & 

Tutoring, 11, 3, 331-348 

Reid, K  (2004a)The views of head teachers  &  teachers on attendance issues in primary schools, 

Research in Education, 72, 60-76  

Reid , K  (2004b) A long-term strategic approach to tackling truancy & absenteeism from schools :the 

SSTG scheme, British Journal of Guidance & Counselling, 32, 1 ,57-74 

Reid, K (2004c) An Evaluation of the Management of School Attendance in Sefton, Report for the 

LEA, Swansea, Swansea Institute of Higher Education 

 Reid, K (2004d) Combating truancy & school absenteeism in South Wales: the latest developments,  

Welsh  Journal of Education, 12,2, 13-34 

Reid  , K (2005a) The Implications of Every Child Matters for Schools, Pastoral Care in Education, 23, 

1, 12-18 

Reid, K (2005b) A comparison between inspection reports on the management of school attendance 

throughout the education service, Pastoral Care in Education, 23, 4 31-41 

Reid , K (2005c) An evaluation of inspection reports on the management of secondary school 

attendance, School Leadership & Management, 25, 2, 121-139 

Reid, K (2005d) The causes, views & traits of school absenteeism & truancy: an analytical review , 

Research in Education, 74,59-82 

Reid, K (2005e) An Evaluation of the Management of School attendance in Walsall, Report for the 

LEA, Swansea, Swansea Institute of Higher Education 

Reid, K (2006a)The views of education social workers on the management of truancy & other forms 

of non-attendance, Research in Education, 75, 43-61 

Reid, K (2006) The professional development needs of education welfare officers on the 

management of school attendance, Journal of In-Service Education, 32, 2, 237-253 

Reid, K (2006c) An evaluation of the views of secondary staff towards school attendance issues, 

Oxford Review of Education, 32, 3, 303-324 

Reid, K (2006d) An evaluation of inspection reports on primary school attendance, Educational 

Research, 48, 3, 267-286 

Reid, K (2006e) An Evaluation of the Management of School Attendance in Cardiff, Report for the 

LEA, Swansea, Swansea Metropolitan University 

Reid, K (2007a) Managing school attendance: the professional perspective, Teacher Development, 

11, 1, 21-43 

Page 40



Reid, K (2007b) The views of learning mentors on the management of school attendance, Mentoring 

& Tutoring, 15, 2, 39-55 

Reid , K (2007c ) An evaluation of OFSTED reports on LEA’s on the management of school 

attendance, Educational  Management  Administration  & Leadership,35, 3, 395-413 

Reid, K (2007d) An evaluation of reports on the attendance of pupils in out-of-school provision, 

International Journal of Educational Management, 21, 2, 144-157 

Reid, K (2007e) Raising school attendance: a case study of good practice in monitoring & raising 

standards, Quality Assurance in Education, 14, 3, 199-216 

Reid, K (2008a) The causes of non-attendance: the national picture; a synopsis, Educational Review, 

60, 4, 333-344 

Reid, K (2008b) The causes of non-attendance: an empirical study, Educational Review, 60, 4,345-

357 

Reid, K (2008c) The education welfare service: the case for a review in England, Educational Studies, 

34, 3, 175-189 

Reid , K (2009a) The national behaviour & attendance review (NBAR) in Wales: findings on exclusion 

set in context, Emotional & Behavioural Difficulties, 14, 1 , 3-17 

Reid, K (2009b) The national behaviour & attendance review (NBAR) in Wales: Findings on school 

behaviour from the professional perspective, Emotional & Behavioural Difficulties, 14 , 3 , 165-183 

Reid, K (2009c) The national behaviour & attendance review (NBAR) in Wales: Findings & 

recommendations on school attendance, Research in Education, 81, 20-42  

Reid , K (2010a) The strategic management of disaffected students in Wales, The International 

Journal of School Disaffection, 7, 1, 35-40 

Reid, K (2010b) Management of school attendance in the UK: A Strategic Analysis, Educational 

Management  Administration  & Leadership, 38,1, 88-106 

Reid , K (2010c) Improving attendance & behaviour in Wales: the action plan, Educational Studies, 

36, 3 ,233-24 

Reid, K (2010d) Unpublished Report for Lancashire LA, Swansea, SMU 

Reid , K (2011a) The State of Literacy in Wales ,  Literacy Today, in press 

Reid, K (2011b) The State of Education in Wales, Education Journal, 127, 6/7 

Reid , K (2011c) The implications of the NBAR Report for Wales & future outlook, Welsh Journal of 

Education, 15, 186-225 

Reid, K (2011d) The professional development needs of staff in Wales on behaviour & attendance: 

findings from the NBAR Report, Educational Studies, 37, 1, 15-30 

Page 41



Reid, K (2011e) Tackling behaviour & attendance issues in Wales: implications for training & 

professional development, Educational Studies, 37, 1, 31-48 

Reid, K (2011f) Finding strategic solutions for truancy, Research in Education, 82, 3, 1-15 

Reid, K, Hopkins, D & Holly ,P (1988) Towards the Effective school, Oxford, Basil Blackwell 

Reid, K , Smith, R  Powell ,R , Reakes , A  & Jones, G  (2007) An evaluation of the effectiveness of the 

education welfare service in Wales, Research in Education, 77,108-128 

Reid, K, Powell ,R  Smith ,R ,  Reakes , A  & Jones ,G (2008)The initial qualifications, induction & in-

service needs of education welfare officers in Wales, Social Work education, 27, 7, 777-796 

Reid , K,  Challoner,  C ,Lancett,  A  Jones ,G  Rhydiart,  GA  & Challoner , S (2010a)The views of 

primary pupils on school attendance at key stage 2 in Wales, Educational Studies, 36,5,465-479 

Reid, K ,Challoner, C,  Lancett  A, Jones , G, Rhydiart  GA & Challoner , S (2010b)The views of primary 

pupils at key stage 2 on school behaviour in Wales, Educational Review, 62,1,97-115 

Reid, J B & Eddy,  J M (1997) The Prevention of antisocial Behaviour. Some considerations in the 

search for effective interventions,  chapter in Stoff,  J B D M & Maser, J D (Eds) Handbook of 

Antisocial Behaviour, New York, John Wiley & Sons 

Rutter , M, Maughan, B,  Mortimore, P Ouston,  J & Smith, A (1979) 15,000 Hours, London, Open 

Books 

Tyerman, M (1968) Truancy, London, ULP 

University of Bristol (2010) Report for the Joseph Rowntree Trust, The Importance of Attitudes and 

Behaviour for Poorer Children’s Education and Attainment, CMPO, Bristol, University of Bristol 

WAG (2009) Behaving & Attending: The response of the Welsh Assembly Government to the NBAR 

Report, Cardiff, Welsh  Assembly Government 

Webster-Stratton, C (2006) The Incredible Years, New Zealand, The Webster-Stratton Foundation 

Whitehurst, G J & Lonigan, C J (2001) Emergent Literacy: Development from Pre-Readers to Readers, 

chapter in: Neuman, S B & Dickensen, D K (Eds) Handbook of Early Literacy Research, New York, 

Guildford Press 

Zhang, M (2004) Time to change the truancy laws? Compulsory education: its origin & modern 

dilemma , Pastoral Care in Education, 22, 2, 27-33 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



SHORT CURRICULUM VITAE FOR 

PROFESSOR KEN REID,OBE 
BA MEd PhD CertEd FRSA 

 
 
 
 
 

Mobile: 07530 836132 
E-Mail: kenreid888@yahoo.co.uk 
Born: Old Colwyn, North Wales. 
 
 
QUALIFICATIONS: 
 
 
BA (HONS) Class I.  Cardiff University, 1976. Awarded Williams, Davies & Jones Prize for undergraduate scholarship based on Part 1 & 2 Results 
(consecutive awards) Two articles published in academic journals based on findings from empirical study for undergraduate dissertation.. 
 
Master’s Degree in Education (Method A, by research), Cardiff University. Awarded SSRC Scholarship & conducted an evaluation of a sponsored research 
project into: The interface between the Health, Education and Social Services for Families with Severely handicapped Children in South Wales. First book 
entitled Whose Children? was published shortly afterwards as well as some articles in journals. 
 
PhD on Persistent School Absenteeism. Cardiff University. Awarded DES Scholarship. Second and third books published on results from large-scale empirical 
study plus numerous articles in major education & psychology journals. 

 
 
 
PRESENT POST: 
 
Retired. 
 
Former Chair to Welsh Government on Behaviour and Attendance. Chair of National Behaviour and Attendance Review, 2006-2008. 
 
 
PREVIOUS EMPLOYMENT: 
 
Deputy Vice-Chancellor, Swansea Metropolitan University, 1995-2010. 
 
 

P
age 43



PREVIOUS RESPONSIBILITIES: 
 
All academic matters, external liaison, quality assurance and quality enhancement, student affairs, staff development, ethics, research. 
 
Vice Chair: Academic Board1995-2011. 
Member: Board of Governors1998-2011. 
Chair of 35 Committees or major Sub-Committees including: 
Academic Quality, Standards and Audit,  
Student Affairs, 
 Appeals,  
Student Disciplinary Committee,  
Monitoring and Evaluation,  
Learning and Teaching,  
Special Cases,  
Research and Postgraduate,  
Staff Development,  
Equal Opportunities. 
 
Previous Posts have included: 
Research & teaching posts at:  
Cardiff University,  
Leicester University,  
Swansea Institute,  
Various secondary schools in Berkshire and Oxfordshire, Wales and Lancashire. 
 
 
OTHER ACHIEVEMENTS 
 
Course Director of BA, M.Ed, MPhil/PhD Research Degree Programmes validated by: CNAA, UWE, University of Wales, 1982-1998. 
First successful MEd completion in 1983. 
First successful M Phil Completion in 1984. 
First successful PhD completion:1985 
Since then numerous successful completions at taught & research master’s degree level as well as 17 PhD’s (No failures at any level). 
 
 
  
 
 
EXTERNAL APPOINTMENTS HAVE INCLUDED: 
 
Chair: Welsh Assembly Review into School Behaviour and Attendance in Wales, Report published April 2008. 

P
age 44



 
Professional Advisor for: Behaviour and Attending: Action Plan Responding to the National Behaviour and Attendance Review, Report published March 2009. 
 
Member of Ministerial Advisory Group (MAG) for Special Educational Needs on behalf of Welsh Assembly Government, 2006-2009. 
 
Chair: Sub-Committee of MAG on Behaviour and Attendance, 2006-2009. 
 
Chair: University of Wales Committee on Academic Standards and Quality, 1998-2004. 
 
Member of: University of Wales Court, Academic Board, Appeal Committee, 1990-2005. 
 
Chair: Welsh Academic and Quality Group, 1990-2002. 
 
Member of University of Wales Academic Board, Court and Appeal Committees, 1995-2005. 
 
Member of Higher Education Quality Enhancement Committee (HEQC), 1988-1999. 
 
External Member of University of West of England, Bristol, Research Committee, 1988-2002. 
  
Member of CNAA Research Committee,1985-1997. 
 
Consultant to a large number of LA’s in the UK on Behaviour & Attendance 1985-2012. 
 
Specialist Professional Advisor to Secretary of State for Education in England on: Truancy Road Show & Home Office/DES Initiative on Truancy and Crime, 
1998-2001. 
 
BOOKS PUBLISHED BETWEEN 1980 and 2013: 
 
Author or co-author of: 
 
Whose Children (Gibbs)1980 
Rethinking Teacher Education (Croom Helm)1985 
Truancy and School Absenteeism (Hodder & Stoughton)1985 
Helping Troubled Pupils in Secondary Schools, Volume 1 Social and Psychological Issues (Blackwells)1988 
Helping Troubled Pupils in Secondary Schools, Volume 2 Academic and Behavioural Issues (Blackwells)1988 
Combating School Absenteeism (Hodder & Stoughton)1987 
Staff Development in Primary Schools (Blackwells)1988 
Staff Development in Secondary Schools (Blackwells)1989 
An Introduction to Primary School Organisation (Hodder & Stoughton)1988 
Towards the Effective School (Blackwells)1987 
Truancy: Short and Long-Term Solutions (Routledge)2002 

P
age 45



Disaffection From School (Methuen)1986 
Truancy and Schools (Routledge)1999 
Tackling Truancy in Secondary Schools (Routledge)2000 
Disaffection From School (Routledge)2012 
Rethinking Teacher Education (Routledge)2012 
Tackling Behaviour in your Primary School (Routledge)2012 
Better Behaviour through Home-School Relations (Routledge)2013 
Managing school Attendance: Effective Interventions to Reduce Truancy (Routledge)2013 
Improving Attendance in Your School (Routledge)2013 
 
Author or co-author of numerous funded research projects & reports for a range of sponsoring agencies, local authority and Government departments on such 
issues as: 

Severely Handicapped Children and their Families 
Initial Teacher Education 
The Probationary Year 
In-Service Teacher Education 
Professional Development 
Truancy and School Absenteeism 
Sixth Form Education 
16+ Examinations 
Out-of-School Learning 
Unemployed Graduate Teachers 
Education Welfare Service 
The Management of Local Government 
School Effectiveness 
Student Feedback in Universities 
Bullying 
Behaviour Management 
Young People’s and Children’s Views on Schooling 

Author of over 150 published articles in academic journals and 15 books between 1976 and 2002. 

Author or co-author of numerous chapters in edited books. 

Awarded Personal Chair by University of Wales for research & publication record in 1988 (Chair of Panel: VC of Swansea University with members from 
Cardiff, Cardiff Medical School plus three externals on Panel from leading universities in England). 

Member of Editorial Boards of selected journals (eg Emotional & Behavioural Difficulties). 

Associate Editor: Educational Studies 

 Editor of the Welsh Education Journal. 

P
age 46



Editor of Special Editions of Journals (eg Educational Review: Special Issue on:Truancy, Disaffection and Anti-Social Behaviour, Volume 
60,4,November,2008). 

Author of Towards the Effective School, Named Education Book of the year by TES, 1977.Later, named one of the ten best Education books of the Decade. 

Truancy: Short & Long-Term Solutions named as one of the best books of the decade by TES. 

Peer Reviewer for a number of education journals and selected publishers (eg Routledge). 

External Representative on validation panels as required. 

Chair and Welsh President of SEBDA (Society for children with Emotional, Behaviour and Learning Difficulties, 45,000 members). 

Regular speaker at national, international and local education conferences throughout UK (and in other parts of the world). 

Regular presenter or trainer at in-service events. 

Regular contributor to programmes on education and schooling (especially for BBC Radio and TV and local radio). 

Regular contributor to National periodicals on education(eg TES, Education Journal, Education, Literacy Today,, Children’s Services Weekly and other 
national magazines and newspapers). 

External Examiner appointments have included the Universities of:  Cambridge, Liverpool, Sheffield, Leicester, Kent, Hull, Birmingham, Worcester, 
Canterbury, Buckingham and The Open University, as well as for numerous colleges at both taught undergraduate & postgraduate levels. 

External Examiner for MA, MPhil and PhD research degrees for staff & students at a wide range of colleges & universities between 1982 and 2012. 

Appointed Consultant to help HE institutions gain taught degree awarding powers to (eg Canterbury, Christ Church College). 

Awarded OBE for Services to Education in the Queen’s Birthday Honours, June 2010. 

 

 

 

PUBLISHED ARTICLES, REPORTS AND BOOKS SINCE 2002 (see attached list). 

 

 

 

 

P
age 47



PUBLISHED ARTICLES FOR PROFESSOR KEN REID 2002-2012 

 
 
Journal Title Vol, Page etc Date of 

Publication 

Mentoring and Tutoring Mentoring with Disaffected Pupils Vol 10, No 2, 153-

169 

June 2002 

Quality Assurance in Education The Swansea Internal Quality Audit Processes: A Case Study Vol 10, No 4 , 237-

245 

October 2002 

Pastoral Care in Education The Search for Solutions to Truancy and Other Forms of School Absenteeism Vol 21, No 1,  3-9 March 2003 

Educational Review Strategic Approaches to Tackling School Absenteeism and Truancy: The Traffic 

Lights (TL) Scheme 

Vol 55, No 3, 305-

321 

November 2003 

Educational Studies A Strategic Approach to Tackling School Absenteeism and Truancy: The PSCC 

Scheme 

Vol 29, No 4, 351-

371 

December 2003 

Mentoring and Tutoring An Evaluation of an Out-of-School Learning Project in South Wales Vol 11, No 3, 331-

348 

December 2003 

Pastoral Care in Education An Evaluation of Strategies and Professional Development Needs on Attendance 

Issues within an LEA 

Vol 22, No 1, 15-24 March 2004 

British Journal of Guidance and 

Counselling 

A Long-Term Strategic Approach to Tackling Truancy and Absenteeism from 

Schools: The SSTG Scheme 

Vol 32, No 1, 57-74 February 2004 

Welsh Journal of Education Combating Truancy and School Absenteeism in Wales: The Latest Developments Vol 12, No 2, 13-34 Feb/March 2004 

Journal of In-Service Education The Professional Development Needs of Teachers with Responsibility for Pupil 

Attendance: A Case Study 

Vol 31, No 1, 9-30 June 2004 

Research in Education The Views of Head Teachers and Teachers on Attendance Issues in Primary Schools Vol 72,  60-76 November 2004 

Pastoral Care in Education The Implications of Every Child Matters for Schools Vol  23, No 1, 12-

18 

 

March 2005 

School Leadership and Management An evaluation of inspection reports on the management of secondary school 

attendance 

Vol 25, No 2, 121-

139 

April 2005 

Pastoral Care in Education A Comparison Between Inspection Reports on the Management of School 

Attendance throughout the Education Service 

Vol 23, No 4, 31-41 December 2005 

Research in Education The causes, views and traits of school absenteeism and truancy: an analytical review Vol 74, 59-82 November 2005 

Research in Education The views of education social workers on the management of truancy and other 

forms of non-attendance 

Vol 75, 43-61                   May, 2006 

Journal of In-service Education,  

 

 

The Professional Development Needs of Education Welfare Officers on the 

Management of School Attendance 

Vol 32, 2, 237-253 June 2006 

Oxford Review of Education An Evaluation of the Views of Secondary Staff Towards School Attendance Issues Vol 32, 3, 303-324 July 2006 

Quality Assurance in Education Raising school attendance: A case study of good practice in monitoring and raising 

standards 

Vol 14, 3, 199-216 September 2006 

Educational Research An evaluation of inspection reports on primary school attendance  Vol 48, 3, 267-286  November 2006 

International Journal of Educational 

Management 

An evaluation of reports on the attendance of pupils in out-of-school provision Vol 21, 2 early 2007 

P
age 48



Mentoring and Tutoring The views of learning mentors on the management of school attendance Vol 15, 2, 39-55 February 2007 

Research in Education An evaluation of the effectiveness of the EWS in Wales Vol 77, 108-128 May 2007 

EMAL An Evaluation of Ofsted Reports on LEAs on the Management of Attendance Issues Vol 35, 3, 395-413 July 2007 

Teacher Development Managing School Attendance: The Professional Perspective Vol 11, 1, 21-43 March 2007 

Educational Studies The Educational Welfare Service: The Case for a Review in England Vol 34, No 3, 175-

189 

July 2008 

Social Work Education The initial qualifications, induction and in-service needs of education social workers 

in Wales 

Vol 27, No 7, 777-

796 

October 2008 

Educational Review The causes of non-attendance: the national picture; a synopsis Vol 60, No 4, 333-

344 

November 2008 

*Educational Review The causes of non-attendance: an empirical study Vol 60, No 4, 345-

357` 

 

November 2008 

Emotional and Behavioural 

Difficulties 

The National Behaviour and Attendance Review (NBAR) in Wales: findings on 

exclusion set in context 

Vol 14, No 1, 3-17 March 2009 

Emotional and Behavioural 

Difficulties 

The National Behaviour and Attendance Review (NBAR) in Wales: Findings on 

School behaviour from the Professional Perspective 

Vol.14, No.3, 165-

183 

September 2009 

Research in Education 

 

The National Behaviour and Attendance Review (NBAR) in Wales : findings and 

Recommendations on School Attendance 

No.81, 20-42 May 2009 

Emotional & Behavioural Difficulties The National Behaviour and Attendance Review (NBAR) in Wales : Findings on 

School Behaviour from the Professional Perspective 

Vol. 14, No.3, 165-

184 

 

March 2009 

Quality Assurance in Education An Evaluation of an Internal Audit on Student Feedback within a British University : 

a quality enhancement process 

Vol. 18, No.1, 47-

63 

 

2010 

Educational Management 

Administration and Leadership 

Management of School Attendance in the UK : A Strategic Analysis Vol.38, No.1, 88-

106 

January 2010 

Educational Review The Views of Primary Pupils at Key Stage 2 on School Behaviour in Wales Vol.62, No.1, 97-

115 

February 2010 

The International Journal on School 

Disaffection 

The Strategic Management of Disaffected Students in Wales 7, 1, 35-40 March 2010 

Educational Studies Improving Attendance and Behaviour in Wales : the action plan Vol. 36, No.3, 233-

249 

 

July 2010 

Educational Studies The Views of Primary Pupils at Key Stage 2 on School Attendance in Wales Vol. 36, No.5, 465-

479 

September 2010 

Educational Studies The Professional Development Needs of Staff in Wales on Behaviour Management 

and Attendance : findings from the NBAR Report 

Vol. 37, No.1, 15-

30 

February 2011 

Educational Studies Tackling Behaviour and Attendance Issues in Schools in Wales : implications for 

training and professional development 

Vol. 37, No.1, 31-

48 

February 2011 

Research in Education Finding strategic solutions to reduce truancy. 84,1-18 2010 

Educational Review Changes to educational policy and management in Wales: Facing the ‘cuts’ and new 

strategic challenges 

63, 4, 439-453 2011 

P
age 49



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

* Named as one of the most cited articles in a recent survey on Educational publications for which a Top Cited Article Certificate was awarded.  

 

 

 

RECENT REPORTS 

 

 

Title Date of 

Publication 

Improving school attendance in Sefton, Swansea, SMU 2004 

Strategies to improve school attendance in Walsall, Swansea, SMU 2005 

Improving school attendance in Cardiff: A strategic overview, Swansea, SMU 2006 

Improving school attendance in Lancashire LA, Swansea, SMU 2009 

Interventions Intended to Increase Primary and/or Secondary School Attendance, Confidential Report for the Campbell 

Collaboration Foundation, Oslo, Norway. 

2011 

Evaluating strategic interventions with children who are school phobic: A meta analysis, Confidential Report for the Campbell 

Collaboration Foundation, Oslo, Norway. 

2012 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RECENT REPORTS FOR WELSH GOVERNMENT 

 

 

Report Author Title Date of 

Publication 

NBAR National Behaviour and Attendance Review: Interim Report for the Welsh 

Government, Chair: Professor K Reid, Cardiff, WG. 

2007 

NBAR National Behaviour and Attendance Review: Final Report, Chair: Professor K Reid, 2008 

The Welsh Journal of Education The National Behaviour and Attendance Review (NBAR): Summary & Prospective 

Outlook 

15,116-138 2011 

Emotional and Behavioural 

Difficulties 

An analysis of the future management of school attendance in Wales. 17, 1, 3-12. 2012 

Educational Review The strategic management of truancy and school absenteeism: Finding solutions from 

a national perspective 

64,2,196-211 2012 

Educational Studies Reflections of being ‘A Man of truancy’: 40 years On 38,2,309-326 2012 

Educational Management 

Administration and Leadership 

An analytical consideration of the plan to raise standards, improve educational 

leadership and management in Wales,  

In press 2012 

Educational Studies An analysis of the changing shape of initial teacher education in Wales since 

devolution. 

 

38,2,327-340 

2012 

P
age 50



Cardiff, Welsh Government. 

WG Behaving and Attending: Response to the NBAR Report by the Implementation 

Group, Cardiff, WG. 

2009 

Reid, K Update on  National Behaviour and Attendance Report (NBAR): Improving School 

Attendance in Wales, Swansea, SMU 

 

2011 

 

 

 

RECENT BOOKS SINCE 2002 

 

 

Authors Title Date of Publication 

Reid, K Truancy: Short and Long-Term Solutions, London, Routledge 2002 

Hopkins, D and Reid, K Rethinking Teacher Education, London, Routledge 2012 

Reid, K Disaffection From School, London, Routledge 2012 

Reid, K and Morgan, N Handbook for Primary teachers in Wales on Managing Behaviour in the Classroom, Cardiff, 

Welsh Government. 

2012 

Reid, K and Morgan, N Tackling Behaviour in the Primary School: A Practical Handbook for Teachers, London, 

Routledge. 

2012 

Ellis, G, Morgan, N and Reid K Better Behaviour through Home School Relations: London,  Routledge: in press 2013 (Feb) 

Reid, K Managing School Attendance: Successful Intervention Strategies for Reducing Truancy: in 

press 

2013 (May) 

Reid, K Improving School Attendance in your School : Implementing Strategies that Really Work 2013 (August) 

 

                                                                                                                                              

P
age 51



Agenda Item 3a

Page 52


	Agenda
	2 Inquiry into Attendance and Behaviour - Evidence session (09:15 - 10:45)
	CYP(4)-02-13 Paper 1b - Professor Ken Reid
	CYP(4)-02-13 Paper 1c - Professor Ken Reid
	CYP(4)-02-13 Paper 1d - Professor Ken Reid

	3a Correspondence from the Minster for Health and Social Services regarding Neonatal services

